The acute effects of low dose of alcohol on simulated driving performance in male and female young drivers with high versus low testosterone levels

Manal Eldeb

Department of Psychiatry

McGill University, Montreal

Submitted February 2016

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Masters of Science

© Manal Eldeb 2016

Table of Contents

Table of Contents
List of Tables4
List of Figures5
Abstract
Résumé9
Acknowledgments
Preface & Contribution of Authors
Introduction
The Burden of Road Traffic Crashes15
The 'Young Drivers Problem'16
The research aims
Neurobiological Correlates of Risky Driving Behaviours
Interactions
Sex-based Differences in RTCs
Summary
Objectives and Hypotheses
Methods
Site and Ethics
Participants
Measures
Procedures
Data storage and coding
Analysis and sample size44
Results
Sample Characteristics
Personality Characteristics
Results of Hypotheses 1, 2, & 3
Results of Hypotheses 4a & 4b49
Discussion
Implications and Future Research

Strengths and Limitations	57
Conclusion	59
References	60
Appendix 1	80
Description of the Protocol of the Main Study	

List of Tables

Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics, alcohol misuse, personality characteristics,
testosterone levels, and mean speed in males and females75

List of Figures

Figure 1. Conceptual model of hypotheses	77
Figure 2. Driving simulation hardware and projected computerized scenarios	78
Figure 3. Chart illustrating alcohol and testosterone interaction	79

Abstract

Background: According to the World Health Organization, road traffic crashes represent the single leading cause of death for young people. Road traffic crashes are largely preventable, yet the precise mechanisms underlying individual driving risk remain relatively unidentified. Some risky drivers are over-represented among those involved in serious and fatal road traffic crashes, including those who misuse alcohol. Understanding what drives their risk taking is a key to developing evidence-based and effective prevention programs. Research focusing on the causes of risky driving has examined neurobiological markers of risk taking, such as cortisol, serotonin, and adrenaline. The steroid hormone testosterone has received substantial attention in relation to risk taking, but not specifically related to driving behaviour. Testosterone has been associated with sensation seeking and impulsivity, two consistent correlates of risky driving. Furthermore, interactions between testosterone and alcohol in relation to sensation seeking and impulsivity have been observed, potentially making testosterone a specific factor in driving while impaired with alcohol. In this experiment, four hypotheses were tested: H1) Young drivers with higher testosterone level show higher mean speed in simulation than young drivers with lower testosterone level; H2) Alcohol moderates the relationship between testosterone level and mean speed; H3) Sex moderates the relationship between testosterone level and mean speed; H4) Sensation seeking and impulsivity mediate the relationship between testosterone level and mean speed under alcohol.

Methods: This study is part of a larger between-subject, randomized, placebo-controlled experiment. Eleven male and eleven female drivers aged 18-34 years were recruited and their saliva assayed for endogenous testosterone level using radioimmunoassay. Participants also responded to questionnaires assessing sensation seeking and impulsive personality

characteristics, and performed two driving simulation tasks, one at BAC (blood alcohol content) of 0% (i.e., baseline; no-alcohol condition) and another at a positive BAC of 0.02% - 0.05% (i.e., alcohol condition). *Analytic strategy:* A median-split of testosterone level into high and low testosterone levels was done separately for male and female groups. Mean driving speed in simulation was the main dependent measure of risky driving propensity. To test H1, 2, & 3, a mixed-design ANOVA was performed. Testosterone level (high, low) and sex (male, female) were between-subject factors and alcohol condition (no-alcohol, alcohol) was the within-subject factor. The mediation analysis (i.e., H4) was performed using the bootstrapping method with bias-corrected confidence estimates.

Results: H1 was not supported by the findings; young drivers with higher testosterone level did not report higher simulated speed than young drivers with lower testosterone level, p > .05. H2 was supported. A significant alcohol X testosterone interaction was detected (p = .04; $\eta_p^2 = .20$). Specifically, young drivers with higher testosterone level reported higher mean speed than drivers with lower testosterone level, but only after alcohol consumption. Sex was not a significant moderator of the relationship between testosterone level and simulated speed (p > .05). Neither sensation seeking nor impulsivity mediated the relationship between testosterone level and simulated speed under alcohol (p > .05).

Conclusion: Interaction between testosterone hormone and alcohol may be one mechanism contributing to risky driving under legal BAC (in Canada < 0.08%). Practically, findings from this study can help future development of educational programs, based on age and sex, to better inform young drivers about neurobiological factors that can affect their ability to drive. A promising avenue for future research would be to test potential mediators between testosterone level and risky driving under alcohol such as reward sensitivity and response inhibition. This

approach could help to verify the findings of this study and could considerably provide potential targets for intervention.

Résumé

Contexte: Selon l'Organisation mondiale de la santé, les collisions routières représentent la principale cause de mortalité chez les jeunes. Les collisions routières sont en grandes partie évitables, mais les mécanismes précis sous-jacents au risque individuel restent encore à identifier. Certains conducteurs à risque sont surreprésentés parmi ceux impliqués dans les collisions routières graves et fatales, incluant ceux faisant un usage abusif de l'alcool. La recherche axée sur les causes de la conduite à risque s'est penchée sur les marqueurs neurobiologiques de la prise de risque, comme le cortisol, la sérotonine et l'adrénaline. La testostérone a reçu beaucoup d'attention en lien avec la prise de risque, mais pas spécifiquement en lien avec les comportements de conduite. Cette hormone a été associée à la recherche de sensations et à l'impulsivité, deux corrélats cohérents de la conduite à risque. En outre, les interactions entre la testostérone et l'alcool mises en relation avec la recherche de sensations et l'impulsivité ont également été observées, faisant de la testostérone un facteur spécifique potentiel de la conduite avec facultés affaiblies par l'alcool. Dans cette expérimentation, quatre hypothèses ont été testées: H1) Lors de simulations de conduite, les jeunes conducteurs ayant un niveau élevé de testostérone conduisent à une vitesse plus élevée que ceux ayant un niveau de testostérone inférieur; H2) L'alcool modère la relation entre le niveau de testostérone et la vitesse en simulation; H3) Le sexe modère la relation entre le niveau de testostérone et la vitesse en simulation; H4) La recherche de sensations et l'impulsivité ont un effet médiateur sur la relation entre le niveau de testostérone et la vitesse en simulation après consommation d'alcool.

Méthodologie: Cette étude fait partie d'une expérimentation inter-sujet, randomisée, contrôlée par placebo plus large. Vingt-deux conducteurs (H=11, F=11) âgés de 18-34 ans ont été recrutés. Leur salive a été analysée pour déterminer leur niveau de testostérone endogène par dosage radio-

immunologique. Les participants ont également répondu à des questionnaires évaluant la recherche de sensations ainsi que des caractéristiques de la personnalité liées à l'impulsivité en plus d'effectuer deux tâches de simulation de conduite, l'une à un taux d'alcoolémie de 0% (ligne de base) et l'autre à un taux d'alcoolémie de 0.02%-0.05% (condition alcool). *Stratégie analytique*: Une séparation en 2 groupes (niveaux haut et bas) divisés autour de la médiane des taux de testostérone a été effectuée pour chaque sexe. La vitesse moyenne lors des simulations de conduite est la mesure dépendante principale de la propension à la conduite à risque. Pour tester H1, 2, & 3, une ANOVA mixte a été réalisée. Le niveau de testostérone (haut, bas) et le sexe (homme, femme) sont les facteurs inter-sujets et le taux d'alcoolémie (ligne de base (0%)) et condition alcool (0.02% - 0.05%) le facteur intra-sujet. L'analyse de la médiation (H4) a été réalisée en utilisant la méthode d'autoamorçage (bootstrap) avec estimateurs de confiance à biais corrigé.

Résultats: H1 n'a pas été corroborée par les conclusions (i.e. lors des simulations, les jeunes conducteurs ayant un niveau élevé de testostérone n'ont pas conduit à une vitesse plus élevée que ceux ayant un niveau inférieur de testostérone, p > .05). H2 a été soutenue par les résultats. Une interaction significative entre l'alcool et la testostérone a été détectée (p = .04; $\eta_p^2 = .20$). Plus précisément, les jeunes conducteurs ayant un niveau élevé de testostérone ont démontré une vitesse en simulation plus élevée que ceux ayant un niveau plus faible et ce dans la condition alcool, mais pas à la ligne de base. Le sexe n'était pas un modérateur significatif de la relation entre le niveau de testostérone et la vitesse en simulation (p > .05). Ni la recherche de sensations, ni l'impulsivité n'avait un effet médiateur sur la relation entre le niveau de testostérone et la vitesse en simulation d'alcool (p > .05).

Conclusion: L'interaction entre la testostérone et l'alcool pourrait être un mécanisme contribuant à la conduite à risque avec un taux d'alcoolémie sous la limite légale (au Canada < 0.08%). En pratique, les résultats de cette étude peuvent aider à élaborer des programmes éducatifs, basés sur l'âge et le sexe, afin de mieux informer les jeunes conducteurs sur les facteurs neurobiologiques qui peuvent affecter leur aptitude à conduire. Une avenue prometteuse pour la recherche future serait de tester des médiateurs potentiels entre le niveau de testostérone et la conduite à risque sous l'influence de l'alcool tels que la sensibilité à la récompense et l'inhibition de la réponse. Cette approche pourrait aider à vérifier les résultats de cette étude et pourrait largement fournir des cibles d'intervention potentielles.

Acknowledgments

This thesis is a product of the combined efforts of many individuals to whom I am ever grateful. Firstly, I would like to express my sincerest appreciation to my thesis supervisor, Dr. Thomas Brown, for his ongoing support, guidance, encouragement, unwavering confidence and faith in me. Thanks for providing high quality feedbacks on my projects, responding to my questions and queries so promptly, providing the funding which allowed me to undertake this research, and for giving me the opportunity to attend conferences and meet with important figures in road safety research. Furthermore, I highly value Dr. Marie Claude Ouimet help and support during my applications to the funding agencies and for answering my questions generated during analysis of the driving simulation data. I hope this is the start of much future collaboration. I am also grateful to the members of my Master's Advisory Committee, Dr. Ridha Joober and Dr. Joseph Rochford for their comments and recommendations. Thank you for accepting the responsibility and burden of this task willingly despite your busy schedules. I would like also to thank my external examiner, who must remain anonymous, for the helpful feedback and guidance on how to improve my future projects.

I would like to acknowledge the contribution of the research coordinators and assistants from the Addiction Research Program, particularly Ms. Lucie Legault and Ms. Lysiane Robidoux-Léonard, for providing training on conducting participant interviews, help with participants' recruitment, answering my questions, and for providing me with the resources for successfully conducting this research. You are an indescribably reassuring presence to have around. Thanks also to Ms. Laurence Fectu-Fortine for entering the results of the personality questionnaires into our analysis software and for proofreading the French version of my abstract.

A special thanks to the postdocs in our lab, Dr. Junaid Bhatti and Dr. Katarina Dedovic, who shared useful advice and feedbacks through the process of the Master's study. Thanks to my friends and colleagues in the Addiction Research Program, Kaitlyn Enright, Queenie Wong, Derek Albert, and Nevicia Case, for collegiality and support. Nevicia, thank you so much for proofreading the discussion section of my thesis. Thanks for all the young drivers who gave up on their time to contribute this study. I am also grateful to the Réseau de Recherche en Sécurité Routière for providing a grant in support of my research.

I owe a debt of gratitude to my parents, Hussein and Fayza, my mother in law, Tahany, my brothers and sisters who have been extremely supportive throughout my study. Finally, I would also like to thank my husband Wael and children Hamed, Nadim and Roa, who have provided unconditional support and too much time away from them to do this study.

Preface & Contribution of Authors

All elements of this thesis are considered original scholarship. To the best of my knowledge, the thesis contains no material previously published except where due reference is made. I confirm that I have made a significant contribution to this thesis.

Introduction

The Burden of Road Traffic Crashes

Road traffic crashes (RTC) represent a critical global public health and socio-economic problems. Globally, almost 1.24 million people die as a result of RTCs while 20 to 50 million more people suffer non-fatal injuries, many of which incur significant disability (WHO, 2013). In Canada in 2011, the Transportation Safety Board reported that 2,006 Canadians were killed, and 10,443 were seriously injured due to RTCs (Canada, 2013). RTCs have an enormous annual economic cost of \$518 billion worldwide, representing approximately 1-3% of the gross national product of developed countries such as Canada (WHO, 2013).

Risk factors of RTCs

While numerous factors contribute to road traffic fatalities, human factors are implicated to some degree in an estimated 89 % of crashes (NHTSA, 1995). Human factors that impair the ability for safe driving include alcohol intake (driving while impaired by alcohol, or DWI) (Purssell et al., 2010), fatigue and sleep deprivation (Vivoli et al., 2013), distracted driving by cell phones (Adeola & Gibbons, 2013) and passengers' characteristics (Ouimet et al., 2010). Alcohol use, however, represents the primary cause of RTCs (Ogden & Moskowitz, 2004).

Risky driving is an important contributor to RTCs

Different empirical and theoretical approaches have been taken to understand the underpinnings of RTCs. Accumulated research evidence has shown that risky driving is an important contributor to RTCs (Jonah, 1986; Iversen, 2004; Mesken, Lajunen, & Summala, 2002). For instance, Iversen (2004) found that people who had been involved in at least one RTC over the past one year have reported more speeding, reckless driving, and driving while impaired (DWI) over the same period than those without RTCs over the past year. Risky driving behaviour includes aggressive driving, speeding, and rule violations. Among these, speeding was the most common behaviour and important contributor to RTCs. Young drivers appear to be the most susceptible to speeding (Clarke et al. 2006; Ouimet et al., 2008). For example, in a sample of 276 participants reporting a history of RTCs in the past 12 months in New Zealand, driving at 20 km/h or more over the speed limit was associated with a significantly greater risk of RTCs in younger drivers below the age of 40 (prevalence rate = 3.4) than in older drivers (prevalence rate = 2.0) (Blows et al., 2005). The main objective of this study is to further our understanding of the biological mechanisms underlying individual driver risk taking by addressing two questions: i) what are the individual biological factors contributing to risky driving in young drivers; ii) why do some drivers engage in more driving related risk taking under alcohol - while others do not?

In the following sections, I begin with a description of risky driving behaviours in young adults. This is followed by consideration of the roles of neurobiological factors, interactions between age and neurobiological factors, and sex.

The 'Young Drivers Problem'

Young drivers are overrepresented in RTCs and their resulting fatalities and injuries. Globally, young drivers below 34 years old were involved in 45% of fatal crashes, 50% of injuries and 49% of property-damage resulting from RTCs in 2001 (NHTSA, 2001). This statistic applies to Canadian young drivers as well. While drivers below 34 years old constitute 20% of licensed drivers in Canada in 2011, they were involved in approximately 40% of road traffic fatalities and 41% of serious injuries (Canada, 2013). Young drivers are also over-involved in alcohol-related RTCs. Among DWI fatalities in the USA in 2013, about 62% involved drivers between 21 and 34 years of age compared to 38% of DWI fatalities involved drivers 35 years of

age and older (NHTSA, 2014). The higher risk for RTC in young drivers is posited to stem from several factors, including: i) lack of experience and driving skills; ii) alcohol use; and iii) the propensity to engage in risk-taking behaviours (Bingham & Shope, 2004).

Inexperience

The association between youthful age and RTCs has been attributed to inexperience. Young drivers are more frequently involved in RTCs and road fatalities than older drivers (Ballesteros & Dischinger, 2000). However, irrespective of age, less experienced drivers are more susceptible to RTCs than more experienced drivers. For example, novice drivers possess 10 times greater crash rates per kilometre travelled than more experienced drivers; moreover, crash risk declines significantly during the first two years of driving experience (Freeman, 2012; Ouimet et al., 2014). Inexperience has been associated with poorer risk and hazard perception (Borowsky & Oron-Gilad, 2013) that have been associated with unintentional driving errors (Waller et al., 2001). Because age and experience are correlated, in general young drivers are the least experienced drivers.

Alcohol

The prevalence rate of alcohol-related RTCs and fatalities is significantly higher in young drivers. Of all road user groups, younger adults (19 to 39 years old) are more likely to have an alcohol-related RTC than older adults (40 to 55 years old) (Norris, Matthews, & Riad, 2000). This could be attributed to higher rates of alcohol-misuse and drink-driving behaviours in young adults. Alternatively, young adults are more vulnerable to the impairing effects of alcohol than older adults.

Alcohol use problems Alcohol misuse is a common risky behaviour pattern in young adults. Alcohol use is a broad term that includes moderate alcohol consumption (i.e., one drink per day for women and up to two drinks per day for men), hazardous alcohol use (i.e., excessive daily consumption in excess of these limits), binge drinking (i.e., heavy single-occasion drinking of ≥ 4 drinks for women and ≥ 5 drinks for men over a few hours), harmful use (i.e., a pattern of drinking that is already causing damage to health and psychosocial functioning), and alcohol use disorder (i.e., a maladaptive pattern of alcohol use that meets clinical diagnostic thresholds for serious impairment) (Dedert et al., 2015). Hazardous and binge alcohol drinking are particularly common in young adults (Miller et al., 2007). For example, in Ireland, hazardous alcohol use has been reported by 65.2% and 67.3% of undergraduate males and females respectively (Davoren et al., 2015). In Canada, in 2004 binge alcohol drinking was reported by 20.6% and 12.5% of undergraduate male and female students respectively (CCSA, 2014).

Drink-driving Drink-driving is one of the most widespread forms of risk taking in young adults. Unlike DWI that is legally defined as operating a motor vehicle with a BAC (blood alcohol content) level above the legal limit (according to jurisdiction), drink-driving is defined as driving after drinking any amount of alcohol (Ministry of Transportation, Ontario). Approximately 24% of college students reported driving after drinking one to four standard alcoholic drinks (Hingson et al., 2003). (A standard drink is defined as a 12-oz bottle or can of beer, a 4-oz glass of wine, a 12-oz bottle of wine cooler or a shot (1.25-oz) of distilled spirits, straight or in a mixed drink (Hingson et al., 2003)). A longitudinal study involving 1253 first-year, 21-year-old students attending a large, mid-Atlantic US university found that 63% of students reported drink-driving, while 25% of students reported engaging in DWI in the past year (Beck, 2010). By comparison, estimates of drink-driving in older drivers indicate that only 2.7%

of them reported a DWI episode within the last month (CDCP, 2011). This underscores the extent of drink-driving problem in young drivers.

One of the most successful policy countermeasures for the drink-driving problem in young drivers is the Graduated Driver Licensing (GDL) program. The GDL program has been adopted in many American and Canadian jurisdictions. For example, in the province of Quebec, drink-driving is prohibited for young drivers under 22 years of age (i.e., zero tolerance) (SAAQ, 2014). Evaluations of the effectiveness of GDL have revealed that the most restrictive programs produce the greatest road safety benefits, particularly for young novice drivers (Masten, Foss, & Marshall, 2011). Nevertheless, young drivers are persistently over-represented in alcohol-related RTCs and fatalities (Miller et al., 2007; Sommers et al., 2013), indicating that younger drivers remain at high risk despite these regulations, and that more effective interventions are still needed.

Vulnerability to alcohol One of the possible causes of over-involvement in alcohol-related RTCs among young drivers is their selective vulnerability to the impairing effects of alcohol. Impairment in this context refers to "a diminished ability to operate a motor vehicle and is based on individuals' abilities comparable to their own performance in an alcohol-free state" (Martin et al., 2013). Overall, the relationship between alcohol dose and involvement in RTCs is incremental. The odd-ratio of RTCs was observed to increase from 1.24 per 10-g of alcohol to 52.0 per 120 g of alcohol, indicating a dose-related risk of alcohol on RTCs (Taylor & Rehm, 2012). However, as compared to older drivers, the risk of alcohol-related RTCs was five times greater in younger drivers at any BAC level (Mayhew et al., 2011; Peck et al., 2008).

<u>Individual variability</u> While young drivers in general are more vulnerable to the impairing effects of alcohol, significant individual variability in driving skills in response to similar alcohol

doses has been observed. Howat (1986) investigated real-road driving skills under alcohol of BAC < 0.1% in a sample of seven males and seven females aged 21 to 32 years. He found that drivers showed substantial variability in speed maintenance under similar doses of alcohol. Indeed, the relationship between BAC and driving risk in young drivers is not consistent, both under illegal BAC of > 0.08% (Jones, 1999) and lower and possibly legal BAC of > .00% - 0.08% (i.e., depending on jurisdiction) (Ferrara, Zancaner, & Giorgetti, 1994). This makes it difficult to establish a "safe" BAC level for young drivers.

Personality

Neglect for the negative consequences of one's actions is a personality feature of great interest to the driving safety community (Parvizi & Hamzehgardeshi, 2014). Two personality features are consistently correlated to risk-taking behaviours in young adults: sensation seeking and impulsivity (Dahl, 2004; Verdejo-Garcia, Lawrence, & Clark, 2008; Zuckerman & Kuhlman, 2000). A meta-analysis of 22 studies conducted by Lauriola et al (2014) investigated the relationship between risk taking measured using the Balloon Analogue Risk Task and sensation seeking and impulsivity among 2820 male and female participants aged between 14 and 27 years old. They found that risk taking is associated with sensation seeking with an effect size in the small-moderate range (r = .14) and with impulsivity with a small effect size (r = .10). These associations were stronger in older adolescents and younger adults (i.e., 18 – 24 years old) compared with other ages. Sensation seeking is considered to be "a biologically based tendency to seek novel, complex, intense sensations and the proclivity to take physical, social, legal, and financial risks in order to achieve such experiences" (Zuckerman, 1994; Zuckerman et al. 1972). Impulsivity, on the other hand, is a multidimensional biologically-based construct (Evenden, 1999) defined as the "inclination of an individual to act on urges rather than thought and with

diminished regard to consequences" (Chamberlain & Sahakian, 2007; Meda et al., 2009). Sensation seeking and impulsivity are conceptually related, leading some researchers to combine them into a single construct (Zuckerman, 1996). Other authorities consider them to be distinct constructs. In support of this perspective, a confirmatory factor analysis using six measures that assess either sensation seeking or impulsivity confirmed that sensation seeking and impulsivity were independent (Magid, MacLean, & Colder, 2007).

Personality and risky driving Sensation seeking has been linked to a range of different risk-taking driving behaviours. For example, speeding, drunk driving, and RTCs have been associated with increased sensation seeking scores (Bachoo, Bhagwanjee, & Govender, 2013; Constantinou et al., 2011; Dahlen et al., 2005; Hatfield & Fernandes, 2009; Hatfield, Fernandes, & Job, 2014; Jonah, Thiessen, & Au-Yeung, 2001; Mirman et al., 2012; Nordfjaern & Rundmo, 2013; Schwebel et al., 2007; Scott-Parker et al., 2012, 2013; Yang et al., 2013). Similarly, impulsivity has been consistently identified as an important factor in risky driving behaviours, including drink-driving (Constantinou et al., 2011; Dahlen et al., 2005; Deffenbacher et al., 2005; Jakubczyk et al., 2013; Paaver et al., 2006; Pearson, Murphy, & Doane, 2013; Ryb et al., 2006; Treloar et al., 2012). Furthermore, impulsivity mediated the association between attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder and risky alcohol-impaired driving (Thompson et al., 2007).

The research aims

RTCs are preventable. As risky driving (e.g., speeding and DWI) are responsible for the majority of road traffic injuries and fatalities in young drivers, understanding the mechanisms pushing individual driver risk in this vulnerable driver group represents a global strategy for reducing RTCs (UN Decade of Action for Road Safety: 2011-2020; WHO, 2011). The present research is predicated upon the over-arching hypothesis that risk taking, including risky driving

and DWI, involves a complex web of psychosocial, neurological, biological and psychological factors and markers, most of which remain incompletely understood (Brown et al., 2010). Therefore, multidisciplinary research that examines risky driving from multiple levels of analysis is needed. At the same time, investigation of risky driving has relied mainly on self-reported subjective measures. Self-reports of behaviour may depart substantially from actual behaviour, particularly if the behaviour is considered to be socially unacceptable or is illegal (e.g., alcohol-related violations) (Chang, Gregory, & Lapham, 2002). Moreover, self-reports are subject to various sources of inaccuracy including convergence with other modes of measurement (i.e., common-method variance) (Podsakoff et al., 2003), recall and under-reporting problems (Chapman, Ismail, & Underwood, 1999), and cultural limitations (Hamamura, Heine, & Paulhus, 2008). There is a need for alternate objective indicators besides self-report measures to advance our understanding of driver risk. Thus, the main objective of this study is to investigate the neurobiological mechanisms influence how alcohol, personality and executive capacities interact to produce risky driving behaviour in young drivers.

Neurobiological Correlates of Risky Driving Behaviours

Alcohol's impact on neurobiological functioning related to risky driving

The operation of a motor vehicle requires the integration and evaluation of multiple sources of cognitive and behavioural information (Fastenmeier & Gstalter, 2007) to guide appropriate decision making and driving behaviour (Funahashi, 2001; Hsieh et al., 2009; Ikkai & Curtis, 2011; Li, Adali, & Calhoun, 2012; Provost, Petrides, & Monchi, 2010). Executive and psychomotor functions are inter-related and intimately connected with the intact function of the brain. Executive function is defined as a group of cognitive skills responsible for the implementation of purposeful, goal-directed behaviours such as inhibition, cognitive flexibility, working memory, and planning (Winter et al., 2014). Psychomotor function is the relationship between executive functions and physical movement such as coordination, manipulation, dexterity, strength, speed, and fine motor skills (R. Kerr, 1982). Alcohol intake significantly affects the frontal cortex, anterior cingulated cortex, insula and cerebellum, which results in impaired executive and psychomotor control performance (Calhoun, Pekar, & Pearlson, 2004; Claus et al., 2011; Dager et al., 2014; Dirksen et al., 2006).

In relation to specific driving skills, alcohol dose has been associated with decreased ability to divide attention (Koelega, 1995; Verster et al., 2009), increased complex reaction time (i.e., the time required to respond to two or more stimuli) (Breitmeier et al., 2007), decreased tracking ability (i.e., ability to maintain position on a roadway) (Evans et al., 1974), and decreased hazard perception (West et al., 1993). Younger drivers have, specifically, been at higher risk of cognitive impairment including memory dysfunction, divided attention and visuospatial deficits after consumption of even small to moderate amounts of alcohol than older drivers (Acheson, Stein, & Swartzwelder, 1998; Freydier et al., 2014). The cognitive and visuospatial deficits have been found to be directly related to driving impairments (Shanmugaratnam, Kass, & Arruda, 2010; Sumer, Ayyasik, & Er, 2005).

Neurobiological correlates of sensation seeking and impulsivity

Sensation seeking and impulsivity characteristics both appear to have a biological basis. For example, high sensation seekers showed stronger fMRI (i.e., functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging) responses to high-arousal stimuli in brain regions (i.e., insula, posterior medial orbitofrontal and prefrontal cortex) associated with arousal and reinforcement compared to low sensation seekers (Cservenka et al., 2012; Joseph et al., 2009). Neuroimaging studies on impulsivity reveal involvement of the prefrontal cortex (Ding et al., 2014), insula (Dambacher et

al., 2014; McHugh et al., 2013), anterior cingulate cortex, and amygdala (Kerr et al., 2014). These areas of the brain, particularly the prefrontal cortex, are involved in executive functioning. Indeed, patients with brain injuries or pathologies affecting the prefrontal cortex have shown a tendency for riskier decision-making and a disregard for the negative consequences of their actions (Knoch & Fehr, 2007).

The relationship between brain and sensation seeking and impulsive behaviour is mediated by hormones and neurotransmitters (Bos, Hermans, et al., 2012; Bos, Panksepp, et al., 2012). For example, the serotonergic and the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) systems have been found to be correlated with sensation seeking and impulsivity (Couture et al., 2008; Giotakos, 2013; Oreland et al., 2010; Shabani et al., 2011). Another hormone that has received substantial attention in relation to risk taking, sensation seeking, and impulsivity is testosterone. For instance, personality research has shown a positive correlation between the level of circulating testosterone and measures of sensation seeking (Aluja & Torrubia, 2004; Coccaro et al., 2007), and impulsivity in healthy volunteers (Bjork et al., 2001; Fujisawa et al., 2011), antisocial personality (Batrinos, 2012; Rasanen et al., 1999; Yildirim & Derksen, 2012) and bulimia nervosa symptoms (Sundblad, Bergman, & Eriksson, 1994).

Testosterone and risk-taking behaviours

With recent developments in neuroscience and behavioural endocrinology, an emerging body of work is exploring individual variability in risk taking with testosterone. Endogenous testosterone is a steroid hormone from the androgen group that is secreted primarily from the testicles in males and the ovaries in females. In males, testosterone peaks during adolescence and early adulthood, and gradually decline after age 40. Total testosterone declines at a rate of approximately 0.8% per year, whereas free testosterone declines about 2% per year (Feldman et

al., 2002). Individually, testosterone levels vary widely, especially in males (Zitzmann & Nieschlag, 2001). At the same time, about 17% of young females show hyper-androgenic states (Gambineri et al., 2013). Two main measures of testosterone are used: i) the circulating testosterone level, which can be acquired using saliva, hair, or blood samples; and ii) fetal exposure to testosterone which can be acquired using the 2D:4D ratio. The 2D:4D ratio has been used as a marker of fetal exposure to higher testosterone levels (Rivas et al., 2014) and is operationalized as the length of the small bones of the second to the forth fingers measured via radiographs.

Testosterone level has been studied in relation to risk-taking behaviours, with markedly inconsistent results between studies. While some studies have found positive correlations between endogenous testosterone levels and risk taking (Apicella et al., 2008; Peper, Koolschijn, & Crone, 2013; Spielberg et al., 2015; Stanton, Liening, & Schultheiss, 2011), other studies have not (Boksem et al., 2013; Stanton, Mullette-Gillman, et al., 2011; Zethraeus et al., 2009). The discrepancy between study findings may be partly related to the utilization of correlational designs. While a useful and pragmatic first step, a simple directional relationship between testosterone and risk-taking behaviours remains speculative. Evidence suggests that contextrelated changes in testosterone levels may modulate current or future behaviours (Carré, McCormick, & Hariri, 2011). In fact, acute changes in testosterone levels during competition have predicted subsequent competitive motivation (Carré & McCormick, 2008; Mehta & Josephs, 2006) and aggression (Carré et al., 2014), suggesting a bidirectional relationship between testosterone and behaviour. Concurrent measurement of testosterone level and performance on a risk-taking task may yield misleading levels of circulatory testosterone, as anticipation of the task may affect testosterone level and performance (Apicella, Dreber, &

Mollerstrom, 2014; Casto, James Madison et al., 2012). Therefore, to better understand the relationship between testosterone levels and risk taking behaviour, temporal decoupling between testosterone measurement and a risk taking task may be needed.

Attempts to understand the causal influence of testosterone on risk-taking behaviours have examined the effects of exogenous testosterone administration on risk taking. Neither administration of testosterone to a sample of 200 post-menopausal females for a four-week period nor administration of a single dose of testosterone to a sample of 54 females aged 18-30 has detected any association between exogenous testosterone and risk-taking behaviours (Boksem et al., 2013; Zethraeus et al., 2009). This suggests that testosterone-behaviour effects may be related to chronic exposure to high levels of testosterone. In contrast, a sample of young males did exhibit higher financial risk taking after administration of testosterone dose as compared to placebo (Cueva, 2015), suggesting a different mechanism of action between males and females. An alternative explanation is that endogenous changes in testosterone level may predict subsequent risk taking in males (Apicella et al., 2014). The relationship between fetal testosterone and risk taking has been studied, though the findings are also mixed. Dreber and Hoffman (2007) reported significant inverse associations between fetal testosterone and economic risk taking tasks, while other studies have not (Apicella et al., 2008; Sapienza, Zingales, & Maestripieri, 2009). The inconsistency between the results may be related to the fact that 2D:4D ration is an inherently noisy measure.

Putative mechanisms linking testosterone to behaviour

Testosterone may affect behaviour through neural function, neural connectivity, and brain volume. Animal studies have shown the effects of testosterone on formation and loss of synaptic connections, the neurotransmitter metabolism modulating neuronal activity, or neuron cell

growth, migration, and apoptosis (MacLusky et al., 2006; Matsumoto, 2001, 2005; Zehr et al., 2006). These processes are fundamental for the remodelling of brain structures and function (Blakemore, 2008; Lustig, 1996; Olson et al., 2009). Even if testosterone hormone exposure occurs during the prenatal period, it might affect adult behaviours through neuronal modulation (Cohen-Bendahan, van de Beek, & Berenbaum, 2005).

Mechanisms of testosterone action have also been investigated in humans using neuroimaging. Testosterone was observed to influence neural activity in the amygdala and prefrontal areas, particularly the orbitofrontal cortex (Stanton et al., 2009). The amygdala is part of the emotional circuitry in the brain with reciprocal connections to the orbitofrontal cortex. Higher endogenous testosterone level has been associated with smaller medial orbitofrontal volume and more risk taking in young males (Peper et al., 2013). Moreover, testosterone administration (van Wingen et al., 2010) and high endogenous testosterone levels (Spielberg et al., 2015) have been shown to reduce amygdala-orbitofrontal cortex functional connectivity, suggesting that testosterone reduces regulatory control over amygdala activity. Neural connectivity between the amygdala and the orbitofrontal cortex has been associated with more effective emotional regulation and self-control (Lee et al., 2012), while lesions in this circuitry has disrupted adaptive decision-making (Bechara et al., 1999).

What do we know about the neurobiology of risky driving behaviours?

Researchers are increasingly utilizing the neurobiological approach in an attempt to better understand the underlying mechanisms of risky driving behaviours. The promise of this approach is that it can provide a more objective understanding of risky driving behaviours. For instance, blunted cortisol response to stress, typically observed in alcoholics and in high-risk nonalcoholics, has been associated with an increased number of past DWI convictions (Brown et al.,

2005; Brown et al., 2016; Couture et al., 2008; Couture et al., 2015). Moreover, blunted cortisol response to stress was observed in non-alcohol-related risky driving behaviours in healthy teenage novice drivers (Ouimet et al., 2014) and adult drivers (Brown et al., 2016), indicating that this association is not solely related to alcohol misuse.

Serotoninergic hormonal system has also been studied in relation to alcohol- and nonalcohol-related risky driving. Platelet monoamine-oxidase (MAO) is a robust measure of central serotonergic activity (Oreland, 2004). Platelet MAO activity was found to be lower in a sample of DWI drivers (n = 203) than in a sample of control drivers (n = 201) after accounting for smoking status (Eensoo et al., 2004). Furthermore, platelet MAO activity was a significant predictor of future drinking and driving (Eensoo et al., 2005). In a follow up study, Paaver et al. (2006) investigated MAO activity in subjects caught by the police with different traffic violations, DWI drivers and speed limit exceeders, in comparison to drivers with clean traffic police records. Consistent with previous findings, the study found lower MAO activity in alcohol-related driving violations. Interestingly, the study also found higher MAO activity in association with self-reported non-alcohol related traffic violations (e.g., speed), indicating that dysregulation in central serotonergic activity is associated with risky driving behaviours.

Other hormones that have been investigated in relation to risky driving behaviours include adrenaline, dopamine, and testosterone. Bergomi et al. (2010) found a positive correlation between dopamine levels and frequency of driving violations, while a negative relationship was found between adrenaline levels and frequency of driving errors, indicating that hormonal dysregulation may also distinguish types of risky driving behaviours. To our knowledge, only one study has investigated testosterone in relation to risky driving behaviours. Schwerdtfeger, Heims, and Heer (2010) explored the relationship between fetal testosterone exposure and

penalty driving points during the last five years in a sample of German male drivers (n = 77). According to traffic laws in Germany, four penalty points are given for drivers following a conviction for DWI by alcohol or drug, and one to four points for speeding depending on the driver's speed. The study found a significant association between fetal testosterone exposure and penalty points ($r^2 = .13$).

Interactions

Interaction between alcohol and testosterone

The pathway between testosterone level and risk-taking behaviours may be moderated by alcohol. Indirect evidence of an alcohol-testosterone interaction showed that alcoholic patients with higher testosterone had elevated risk taking scores than alcoholic patients with lower testosterone (Mattsson et al., 1980; Virkkunen et al., 1994). More direct evidence of alcohol and testosterone interaction was detected by de Water et al., (2013) who found an association between testosterone hormone level and earlier onset of alcohol use in adolescent boys. Additionally, Marten et al (2014) demonstrated that prenatal testosterone exposure in interaction with prenatal alcohol exposure predicted teacher-rated hyperactivity-impulsivity in male children three to six years of age (Martel & Roberts, 2014). The alcohol-testosterone interaction is of particular interest in the traffic safety research. Given the evidence of individual variability on alcohol's impact on the driving performance, it is plausible that alcohol-testosterone interaction

Interaction between alcohol and personality

The conceptual relationship between sensation seeking and impulsivity with alcohol is likely bidirectional. However, the theoretical underpinning of this relationship is different.

Sensation seeking is related to the frequency with which young adults drank alcohol and appears to play an important causal role in problem drinking and the likelihood of developing alcohol-related problems (Cyders et al., 2009; MacPherson et al., 2010; Zakletskaia et al., 2009). Conversely, alcohol intake provokes an increase in sensation seeking behaviours in young adults (Quinn, Stappenbeck, & Fromme, 2011). Furthermore, there is evidence of direct interaction between sensation seeking and alcohol. Elander et al (1993) demonstrated that the interaction between sensation seeking characteristics and transient elements, such as fatigue or drinking, can influence crash risk (Elander, West, & French, 1993).

Impulsivity has predicted greater episodic alcohol intake and alcohol-related negative outcomes (Cyders et al., 2009; de Wit, Crean, & Richards, 2000; Fillmore & Vogel-Sprott, 2000; Miller & Fillmore, 2013). In contrast, alcohol use is associated with sustained impairment of behavioural control and heightened impulsivity (Bates, Bowden, & Barry, 2002; Fillmore, 2003). Furthermore, Fillmore et al (2008) showed that a moderate dose of alcohol (BAC = 0.065%) impaired the ability to inhibit inappropriate actions, thereby decreasing the driving performance (Fillmore, Blackburn, & Harrison, 2008). Not surprisingly, DWI offenders have reported greater impulsivity than healthy controls (Moan, Norstrom, & Storvoll, 2013; Van Dyke & Fillmore, 2014).

Sex-based Differences in RTCs

Although the words sex and gender are often used interchangeably, their meaning is distinct. Sex refers to the biological and physiological characteristics (i.e., male or female), while gender refers to behaviours, roles, expectations, and activities in society (i.e., masculine or feminine) (ASA, 2011). In this section, sex/gender-based differences in relation to three elements

are discussed: prevalence of risky driving behaviours; alcohol impairment; and testosteronerelated risk taking.

Gender differences in the prevalence of risky driving behaviours

Gender differences in risky driving and crash involvement are well documented. The literature has shown that males are more likely than females to engage in more risky driving-related behaviours, such as speeding, driving violations, and driving without a seat belt (Liang et al., 1999). Additionally, males are more likely to engage in DWI rather than females (Morrison, Begg, & Langley, 2002). These gender effects may in part be related to the traditionally higher exposure to driving among males (Smart et al., 2004). At the same time, recent trends indicate that risk of alcohol-related crashes in female drivers, particularly young females, are increasing (Robertson et al., 2011). From 1989 to 2011, although the total rate of DWI has decreased by half of what it was before 25 years, the rate of female DWI has increased from 7.8 to 17.6% (Perreault, 2013). In fact, the relative risk for involvement in an alcohol-related crash for young females and young males reached parity in 2007 (Laapotti et al., 2001; Voas et al., 2012). The relative increase in fatalities among female drivers has been related to a parallel increase in female driving exposure (Romano et al., 2008).

Sex differences in alcohol impairment

While females have a lower prevalence rate of alcohol use disorder (Rehm et al., 2009; van Beek et al., 2014), they have been shown to be at higher relative risk of alcohol-related RTCs than males (Zador, 1991). Greater psychomotor impairments following alcohol consumption in specific driving-related competencies (e.g. reaction to visual stimuli, manual dexterity) have been found at lower BAC in females than in males (Elliott et al., 2006; Miller, Weafer, & Fillmore, 2009).

One possible explanation for these observations is sex differences in body composition. Alcohol is dispersed in body water; females have proportionally less body water and more fat than males (Marshall et al., 1983). Therefore, females typically show higher peak BAC than males after consuming similar alcohol doses. Another explanation involves sex-related difference in gastric alcohol metabolism. At low doses of alcohol, gastric alcohol metabolism has been observed to work more efficiently in males compared to females (Frezza et al., 1990). Not surprisingly then, higher peak BAC (Frezza et al., 1990) and more risky driving behaviours (Elliott et al., 2006; Miller et al., 2009; Zador, 1991) are seen in females compared to males after similar, low doses of alcohol.

Sex-based differences related to testosterone and risk-taking

The literature provides ample evidence associating male sex to risk-associated behaviours. Broadly, males have shown significantly higher sensation seeking, impulsivity and risk-taking behaviours than females (Cross, Copping, & Campbell, 2011). Given that males have eight times higher testosterone levels than females, it was generally assumed that sex hormones, mainly testosterone, were the origin of sex-based differences in personality constructs such as impulsivity (Ramirez, 2003). However, studies exploring testosterone level with risk-taking behaviour in males and females have shown inconsistent findings. Some studies have found high testosterone levels associated with more risk-taking tendencies in males and females (Stanton, Liening, et al., 2011). Other studies have produced different findings. Sapienza et al. (2009) reported a positive correlation between testosterone levels and scores on a financial risk-taking task in females, but not in males. In contrast, testosterone levels have been correlated with disadvantageous performance on a gambling risk-taking task in males, but not in females (Schipper, 2012). In sum, the relationship between sex and testosterone in risk-taking behaviours

appears complex. Yet, the higher prevalence of the overall RTCs, regardless of alcohol, is higher in young males than in young females or older males (TIRF, 2004), suggesting the possibility of an interaction between sex and testosterone.

Summary

The young driver problem is a significant public health issue. The rationale for the present study originates from two premises. First, consistent support for the relationship between personality characteristics and RTC risk naturally leads to consideration of the neurobiological underpinnings of risky driving. Second, young drivers are particularly susceptible to risky driving behaviour under alcohol, even at low doses. Testosterone may represent a biomarker of risky behaviours in young adults. High testosterone has been correlated with increased measures of impulsivity and sensation seeking, which may heighten risky driving behaviour. From a developmental perspective, testosterone levels are higher in males under the age of 40, which is consistent with age related prevalence of driving risk. Thus, high testosterone might be a specific risk factor in this vulnerable group. Despite these suggestive findings, to the author's knowledge, no studies have focused specifically on the relationship between endogenous testosterone levels and risky driving. Moreover, there is a substantial overlap and interplay between testosterone, alcohol, sensation seeking, and impulsivity. Both alcohol and high testosterone levels have been associated with risk-taking characteristics. Finally, given the apparent sex differences in psychomotor impairment of driving specific competencies and testosterone-behaviour relationships, it is plausible that sex may moderate the relationship between testosterone and risktaking driving behaviours.

This study seeks to understand the mechanisms underlying young drivers' involvement in risky driving under alcohol. We use a randomized-controlled, within-subject design experiment to examine the role of testosterone level on simulated risky driving behaviours in young male and female drivers through the mediating roles of sensation seeking and impulsivity and the moderating roles of alcohol and sex (see Figure 1 for our conceptual model).

Objectives and Hypotheses

Objective 1: Investigate whether young drivers with higher testosterone level have heightened risky driving behaviour.

Hypothesis 1: Drivers with higher testosterone levels have higher mean speed in driving simulation than drivers with lower testosterone levels.

Objective 2: Investigate whether alcohol interacts with testosterone in relation to risky driving behaviour.

Hypothesis 2: Alcohol moderates the relationship between testosterone level and mean speed in driving simulation.

Objective 3: Investigate whether sex interacts with testosterone in relation to risky driving behaviour.

Hypothesis 3: Sex moderates the relationship between testosterone level and mean speed in driving simulation.

Objective 4: Investigate the roles of sensation seeking and impulsivity as mediators between testosterone level and alcohol-related risky driving behaviours.

Hypothesis 4a: Sensation seeking mediates the relationship between testosterone levels and mean speed in driving simulation under alcohol.

Hypothesis 4b: Impulsivity mediates the relationship between testosterone levels and mean speed in driving simulation under alcohol.

Methods

Site and Ethics

This study was conducted at the Addiction Research Program of the McGill Universityaffiliated Douglas Mental Health University Institute, located in Montreal, Quebec, Canada. The Research Ethics Board of the Douglas Mental Health University Institute approved the protocol (Research Ethics Board certificate #14/08).

Participants

1) Recruitment strategy

The current study was aligned with a larger project (Brown et al., Canadian Institutes of Health Research MOP # 123346; Research Ethics Board certificate # 12/18) that examines the effects of sleep deprivation (SD) and legal BAC (0.02 - 0.05 %) on executive functions and simulated driving in young drivers. In that protocol (see Appendix 1), equal numbers of males and females were randomized into 5 groups stratified by age: i) [alcohol 0.02% + rested]; ii) [no-alcohol + SD]; iii) [alcohol + SD]; iv) [no-alcohol + rested]; and v) [alcohol 0.05% + rested].

For the present study, male and female participants assigned to the [alcohol 0.02% + rested] and [alcohol 0.05% + rested] groups were given the consent forms for participation in this study following the 3^{rd} session of the main study, which included a brief description of the protocol. Interested individuals were asked for permission to be contacted within a few days by phone. If they agreed to take part in this study, they were scheduled to return to the lab on a separate day (within two weeks of the main study).
2. Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria were: i) experience with alcohol, involving consumption at least 2 to 4 times per month for the last six months as indicated by response to the first question of the Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test (AUDIT); ii) possession of a provisional or a restriction-free driver's license; iii) having driven in the past 3 months and at least once per week; iv) be medication-free. Exclusion criteria included: i) a health problem that contraindicated participation (i.e., unresolved depressive disorder, attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder diagnosis; substance use disorder as screened by an AUDIT, and a Drug Use Disorder Identification Test (DUDIT); ii) being pregnant or breastfeeding; iii) dental work within 24 hours of saliva sampling; iv) being under the influence of alcohol or drugs upon arrival to the lab.

Measures

Data for the present study were derived from two sets of variables: a) those measured exclusively for the present study; and b) those measured in the main study and used in the present study.

a) Variables measured for the present study

Eligibility measures

Alcohol ConsumptionThe Breathalyzer® is a device used for estimating BAC from abreath sample. The device used in this study was the Alco-Sensor IV from AlcoPro. Themouthpieces are complemented with disposable straws for hygienic screening of the subjects.Participants were asked to blow into the Breathalyzer® mouthpiece for approximately 5 seconds.Research has confirmed that BAC levels recorded by the Breathalyzer® are reliable. Thecorrelation between the Breathalyzer® alcohol measures and serum alcohol levels was equal to

.96, and the accuracy of the Breathalyzer[®] has been reported to be within ± 0.01 (Gibb et al., 1984).

Drug Consumption The DrugWipe[®] is a device used to investigate traces of drugs such as cocaine, amphetamine, benzodiazepine, cannabis, heroin and morphine via saliva. The DrugWipe[®] demonstrated a sensitivity of 100% to amphetamine, 90% to cocaine (Wille et al., 2010), 47% to cannabis (Strano-Rossi et al., 2012). It is also able to detect benzodiazepine at relatively low levels (Blencowe, Vimpari, & Lillsunde, 2011). The DrugWipe[®] specificities were 99.2%, 97.4%, 99.6%, and 99.6% for amphetamine, cocaine, opiates, and cannabinoids respectively (Crouch et al., 2008).

Pregnancy Innovacon hCG[®] works by detecting the presence of the hormone human chorionic gonadotropin in a woman's urine (Wilcox, Baird, & Weinberg, 1999). Midstream sample of urine was used for analysis. Innovacon hCG[®] has shown a diagnostic specificity of 86-100%, and sensitivity of 85-100% (Daviaud et al., 1993).

Personality measures

Impulsivity The Barratt Impulsiveness Scale (BIS-11) is the second version of the BIS released in 1995. It is a 30-item questionnaire that yield six first-order factors (attention, motor, self-control, cognitive complexity, perseverance, and cognitive instability impulsiveness) and three second-order factors (attentional, motor, and non-planning impulsiveness) (Patton, Stanford, & Barratt, 1995). The BIS-11 has been found to provide a reliable and valid assessment of impulsivity in adult and adolescent population (Fossati et al., 2002). Test-retest reliability over one month shows statistically significant correlation coefficients. The correlation (r) between BIS-11 Total score and the Wender Utah Rating scale of impulsivity is reported at .43, and with the Aggression Questionnaire Subscales at .33 for physical aggression; .32 for verbal aggression;

.46 for anger; and at .14 for hostility. The internal consistency (Cronbach alpha) is reported at .78 (Fossati et al., 2001).

Sensation seeking The Sensation Seeking Scale Version V (SSS-V) (Zuckerman et al., 1972; Zuckerman, Eysenck, & Eysenck, 1978) is a revision of the original measure (Zuckerman et al., 1964). The SSS-V is a self-report 40-item questionnaire which provides a global score and four subscales: thrill and adventure seeking, disinhibition, experience seeking, and susceptibility to boredom. Each subscale consists of 10 questions each with a binary choice. A psychometric investigation yielded sufficient support for the validity of SSS-V in measuring the sensation seeking characteristics (Beauducel et al., 1999; Wang et al., 2000). The internal consistency alpha ranges from .55 for boredom susceptibility and .80 for the global score (Zuckerman, 1994).

Saliva Testosterone Level

Saliva testosterone level was assessed using direct radioimmunoassay. It offers a simple cheap alternative to serum free testosterone measurement, with the additional advantage of being relatively stress-free and non-invasive (Johnson, Joplin, & Burrin, 1987). Levels of free and total testosterone are highly correlated in both females (r = .64) (Longcope, Hui, & Johnston, 1987) and males (r = .97) (Winters, Kelley, & Goodpaster, 1998). Levels of testosterone show high stability within two weeks interval in males (r = .65) and females (r = .78) (Liening et al., 2010). Menstrual cycle has no significant effect on testosterone level (Dabbs, 1990; Liening et al., 2010).

b) Variables measured in the main study and used in the present study

Alcohol use The AUDIT was developed by the World Health Organization to identify individuals with hazardous and harmful patterns of alcohol consumption (Saunders et al., 1993).

It consists of 10 questions about recent alcohol use and is a validated screening measure of alcohol-use problems (Hendricks, 2001; Saunders et al., 1993) and has been shown to be valid across gender, age, and cultures (Allen et al., 1997). AUDIT scores of ≥ 8 in males or ≥ 6 in females indicate a probable alcohol-use problem. A cut-off value of 8 yielded sensitivities in the mid .90's for various indices of problematic drinking and specificities across countries and across criteria averaged in the .80's (Saunders et al., 1993). The internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha) of the AUDIT is .73 (Fonte & Mota-Cardoso, 2013) and test-retest reliability is .86 in a sample consisting of non-hazardous drinkers, cocaine abusers, and alcoholics (Babor et al., 2001).

Drug use The DUDIT is used to identify individuals with current drug-related problems, those who are at risk, and those who do not have any current problems (Berman et al., 2005). DUDIT scores of ≥ 6 for males or ≥ 2 for females indicate probable drug use problems (Berman et al., 2005). The DUDIT predicted drug dependence in a sample of drug user with a sensitivity of 90%, specificity of 78% and reliability of .80 (Berman et al., 2005; Matuszka et al., 2014).

<u>Mean speed in driving simulation</u> Driving simulation allows evaluation of driving performance under reproducible conditions in a safe, experimentally controlled setting. Evidence indicates adequate external validity with respect to real-world driving (Bedard et al., 2010; de Winter et al., 2009; Ouimet et al., 2011; Shechtman et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2010). The driving simulator at the Addiction Research Program at Douglas Hospital consists of a graphics-enhanced CPU that powers three computer displays, a steering wheel, an accelerator, and brake pedals that provide drivers with a realistic interactive visual, audio and physical driving experience. Figure 2 depicts the simulator from the perspective of the driver.

According to the condition of participants, validity studies support the use of the simulator to measure driving performance for research purposes, either when subjects are sober (Mayhew

et al., 2011) and after alcohol intake (Helland et al., 2013). When comparing self-reported driving behaviours from a written questionnaire to assess the measurement validity of risky driving data derived from a driving simulator, a significant relationship was found across measures of risky driving: crashes (r = .32), speeding (r = .52), risky passing manoeuvres (r = - .34), weaving between traffic (r = .36), and behaviour at stop signs (r = .29) (Reimer et al., 2006).

Procedures

The full protocol of this study consisted of three sessions, one week a part from each other. The first and second sessions were part of the main protocol (see Appendix 1 for detailed description of the protocol). All participants performed the driving simulation tasks twice: i) a baseline session with no alcohol; and ii) a second session with alcohol.

Alcohol condition

For alcohol condition, ethanol was mixed with a carbonated beverage depending on the participants' height and weight according to standard formulas. The mixture was divided into two equal drinks of approximately 125ml each. A glass was given to the participant every five minutes. Given that the groups in the main study included both alcohol and placebo conditions, both the participants and the research assistants were blinded to the alcohol condition. Experimentation started 60-75 minutes after the start of drinking. Alcohol Breathalyzer® tests were conducted and reported every 30 minutes until protocol termination. Participants performed the driving simulation tasks at BAC level between 0.02 - 0.05 %. Participants were informed of their alcohol condition after termination of the experiment and they were followed until their BAC fell to 0%.

Driving simulation tasks

Driving simulation tasks were performed both under no-alcohol (baseline session) and under alcohol (experimental session). The length of each task was about one hour divided into two tasks, 30 minutes each; the order of the tasks was randomly selected in the baseline and experimental session. To avoid any possible learning effect, the simulation tasks varied between the baseline and experimental sessions. However, the level of difficulty was similar between the two sessions. Subjects sit in a car seat and were provided with noise-cancelling headphones, which emit the sound of driving but cancel ambient noise. When participants accelerate, brake, turn, decelerate, etc., the vehicle reacts on the accelerated road as it would on an actual road. **Task 1:** This involved driving on a rural road that ends in a built-up area and on motorways. Pedestrian crossings and traffic lights were encountered during the two-lane rural road and urban road sections. Stop signs and pedestrians were encountered in the built-up areas. On motorways, there were leading vehicles at specific km locations, including trucks moving at 65km/hr. Participants may accelerate and cross a lane to pass these vehicles. Task 2: Participants drive down a curved road with one lane in each direction and have the opportunity to pass slowmoving vehicles ahead of them in their lane, by overtaking them, at the risk of crashing into oncoming vehicles in the other lane. Because the road was curved and the other vehicles in their lane were large, the driver's view of the oncoming lane was obstructed. Oncoming vehicles pass in the opposite direction at both random and fixed intervals. The following simulated driving behaviours were sampled several times per second by the simulator: mean speed (km/h), following distance (meters between participants' vehicle and leading vehicle), acceleration and deceleration (time in milliseconds), and lane keeping (deviation in the movement of the steering wheel). Scoring: The mean speed was the main outcome measure in this study. The mean speed is the average speed of the driving simulation tasks. Two mean speeds were reported: under no-

alcohol condition and under alcohol condition. Speed was measured digitally by the simulator and reported by an experienced simulation technician who was blinded to the participant as well as to the alcohol condition.

Procedures of the third session

On the day of the third session, subjects arrived at the lab at 10:00 AM. They were asked to present picture identification. Subjects read the Informed Consent Form and questions pertaining to their rights, confidentiality, and procedures of the study were answered. Subjects then undergo the Breathalyzer® and the DrugWipe® tests, and the pregnancy test was performed for female subjects. Eligible participants were asked to fill the BIS-11 and the SSS-V questionnaires. Participants were then asked to rinse their mouth with water. After around 10 minutes, collection of saliva was done by direct spitting into the test tube (Fiers et al., 2014). To avoid diurnal variations in testosterone levels, saliva samples were collected in the morning time (between 10 am and 11 am), as recommended by the Endocrine Society in its clinical practice guidelines (Bhasin et al., 2010). The samples were stored frozen at \leq -20°C within 24 hours of collection (Toone et al., 2013). On the day samples were to be assayed, samples were brought to room temperature, centrifuged and assayed. Previous procedures took about one hour to complete; participants were paid 40\$ as compensation for participating in the present study.

Data storage and coding

Only data required to meet the scientific goals of this study project are described here. In order to protect participant identity and the confidentiality of the information they provided, a code number was used to identify participants in data files. The file linking their code to their name was kept by the project coordinator. These data will be destroyed seven years after data

collection is completed. Data without personal identifying information will be conserved for an additional three years after this period.

Analysis and sample size

Analytic strategy

Statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS version 20 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). Normality tests were performed using the Shapiro-Wilk test. If the data were not normally distributed in one or more groups per variable (*p*-value < .05), the following transformation procedures were followed: i) outliers were identified using the standard z-score values (smaller than -3.3 or larger than +3.3) and truncated to the next nearest high or low variable. Shapiro-Wilk test was then repeated. If the *p*-value was less than .05, log-transformation or square-root transformation was performed. Log transformation was performed when the standard deviation was proportional to the mean and square root transformation was used when the variance was proportional to the mean. If normality was achieved after transformation, parametric tests were performed. If normality was not achieved after transformation, non-parametric tests of the original data were used. Transformations were reported if applicable. To detect differences between groups, independent sample t-test was performed for continuous data showing normal distribution, and independent sample Mann-Whitney U-test was performed for continuous data showing violation of normality. For categorical variables, test of independence (Chi-square test) was utilized. Descriptive statistics were presented as means (M) and standard deviations (SD) for continuous variables and percentages (%) for categorical variables. Effect sizes were reported as Cohen's d for t-test and correlation (r) for Mann Whitney test. Because of the preliminary nature of this study, the alpha level was kept at $p \le .05$ for all analyses to increase the sensitivity of analyses to detect effects that could contribute to hypothesis generation for future research.

Hypotheses 1, 2, & 3 were analyzed using a mixed-design repeated measure analysis of variance (ANOVA) with alcohol condition (no-alcohol, alcohol) being a within-subject factor, and sex (male, female) and testosterone group (high testosterone, low testosterone) the between-subject factors. Testosterone groups were identified by the median split of testosterone levels, separately for male and female groups (Stanton, Mullette-Gillman, et al., 2011). The mean speed was the dependent variable. Control for exposure to driving during the last 12 months was performed because it was significantly different between the testosterone groups (p < .01), and because of a significant correlation with the mean speed in males, r(11) = .50, p = .05. If a significant interaction was detected, *post-hoc* tests were performed by decomposing the simple main effects and running *Bonferroni* tests to detect differences between groups. Effect sizes for ANOVA were reported as partial eta-squared (η_p^2).

The mediation analyses in H4a & H4b were tested using PROCESS, a computational procedure for SPSS software. It is an alternative method of the *Sobel test* to test the mediation hypothesis, and is recommended for small sample sizes (Hayes, 2010, 2012) and utilizes a bootstrapping method with bias-corrected confidence estimates. The 95% confidence intervals (*CI*) of the indirect effects are reported (Hayes, 2012; Preacher & Hayes, 2004). PROCESS can also test for indirect effects even in the absence of direct effects (Hayes, 2009). In H4a & H4b, the dependent variable was the mean speed under alcohol, testosterone level was the independent variable, and the mediating variables were SSS-V Total score in H4a and BIS-11 Total score in H4b. Because it is not appropriate to examine testosterone level in male and female groups together, we analyzed H4a and H4b separately by sex (Peters et al., 2015). Effect sizes were reported as 95% *CI* for the indirect effects.

Sample size

G*Power 3.1 was used to estimate sample size needed for statistical significance. For H1, we based our sample size calculation on previous work (Schwerdtfeger et al., 2010). In that study, the effect size (r^2) was equal to .13 for the association between the fetal exposure to testosterone level and the self-reported driving penalty points. To detect significant effects using a mixed-design ANOVA with three main measures, $\alpha = .05$, power = .8, total sample size of 14 divided into two groups was estimated to detect significant effects. For H4a and H4b, we based our sample size calculation on a similar study (Coccaro et al., 2007), which investigated the relationship between testosterone level in the cerebrospinal fluid and risk-taking characteristics. Based on this study, the effect size for the relationship between testosterone level and sensation seeking was estimated at r = .42. With critical alpha level of .05 and power of .8, total sample size needed to detect significant differences was estimated to require 9 subjects. We also over sampled by 20% to account for no-shows or missing data to arrive at the final sample.

Results

Sample Characteristics

Twenty-two subjects participated in this study. Females comprised 50% (N = 11) of the sample. The mean age of the whole sample was 23.7 years old. Sixty-three percent of the young drivers were European-American, 10% were African American, 8.2% were multiracial, 8.1% were Hispanic/Latino, 6% were Asian, and 4.7% were other races.

Table 1 displays sample characteristics of the study sample. Mann-Whitney U test for age did not indicate a statistically significant difference between male (Mdn = 24) and female (Mdn = 21) groups, U = 47.0, p = .42, r = .13. With regard to the number of years of education, an independent sample t-test was used to identify group differences. Results did not indicate significant differences between males (M = 16.2, SD = 2.14) and females (M = 15.5, SD = 2.77) on the years of education, t(20) = 0.2, p = .5, d = 0.28. For ethnicity, a chi-square test revealed no significant differences in ethnic distribution between males and females, X^2 (2, N = 22) = 2.32, p = .22. With regard to age at licensure, a t-test revealed a significant difference between males and females, t(20) = -2.3, p = .03, d = 1.03. Males had significantly lower age at licensure (M = 17.6, SD = 1.36) than females (M = 19.2, SD = 1.72).

Personality Characteristics

In males, Pearson correlation revealed a correlational trend [r(11) = .45, p = .084]between testosterone level (M = 105.3, SD = 32.9) and SSS-V Total score (M = 22.7, SD = 3.82). Results did not detect a significant correlation [r(11) = .33, p = .16] between testosterone level and BIS-11 Total score (M = 58.5, SD = 7.13). With respect to association of SSS-V Total score with the mean speed, results did not reveal significant correlations between SSS-V Total score and mean speed under no-alcohol condition (M = 97.7, SD = 26.4) nor under alcohol condition (M = 105.9, SD = 34.7) [no-alcohol: r(11) = .05, p = .43; alcohol: r(11) = .05, p = .4]. With respect to association of BIS-11 Total score with the mean speed, results did not reveal significant correlations between BIS-11 Total score and mean speed under no-alcohol condition nor under alcohol condition [no-alcohol: r(11) = -.03, p = .45; alcohol: r(11) = -.11, p = .37].

In females, Pearson correlation revealed a trend for a correlation [r(11) = .51, p = .051]between testosterone level (M = 35.8, SD = 12.0) and SSS-V Total score (M = 20.4, SD = 3.51). Results did not detect a significant correlation [r(11) = .064, p = .43] between testosterone level and BIS-11 Total score (M = 59.3, SD = 11.3). With respect to association of SSS-V Total score with the mean speed, results did not reveal significant correlations between SSS-V Total score and mean speed under no-alcohol condition (M = 87.9, SD = 28.9) nor under alcohol condition (M = 93.4, SD = 36.7) [no-alcohol: r(11) = -.13, p = .35; alcohol: r(11) = -.10, p = .39]. With respect to association of BIS-11 Total score with the mean speed, results did not reveal significant correlations between BIS-11 Total score and mean speed under no-alcohol condition nor under alcohol condition [no-alcohol: r(11) = -.15, p = .33; alcohol: r(11) = -.14, p = .34].

Results of Hypotheses 1, 2, & 3

Hypothesis 1 was not supported by the findings. Results did not indicate a significant main effect of testosterone, F(1,19) = 1.23, p = .31. Drivers with higher testosterone level did not report higher mean speed (M = 95.7, SD = 25.31) than drivers with lower testosterone level (M = 89.3, SD = 30.92). Further, within-sex analyses did not reveal any significant differences in mean speed between high testosterone [males: M = 93.9, SD = 27.4; females: M = 97.4, SD = 25.4] and low testosterone [males: M = 102.1, SD = 27.6; females: M = 76.5, SD = 31.3] groups, neither in

males nor in females [males: t(11) = -0.49, p = .63, d = .17; female: t(11) = 1.22, p = .25, d = .28].

Hypothesis 2 was supported by the findings. ANOVA revealed a statistically significant alcohol X testosterone interaction, F(1, 19) = 4.84, p = .04, $\eta_p^2 = .20$. *Post-hoc* tests revealed that young drivers with higher testosterone level reported significantly higher mean speed than young drivers with lower testosterone levels under alcohol condition (M = 108.4, SD = 10.6) than under no-alcohol condition (M = 96.6, SD = 8.47) (see Figure 3).

Hypothesis 3 was not supported by the findings. ANOVA did not reveal a significant sex X testosterone interaction in relation to the simulated mean speed, F(1, 19) = 1.11, p = .33.

Results of Hypotheses 4a & 4b

In males, results did not reveal significant mediation by SSS-V Total score, 95% *CI* [-1.0, 0.71] of the relationship between testosterone level and mean speed under alcohol. Furthermore, results did not reveal significant mediation by BIS-11 Total score, 95% *CI* [-0.62, 0.23] in the relationship between testosterone level and mean speed under alcohol. In females, results did not reveal significant mediation by SSS-V Total score, 95% *CI* [-2.30, 2.22] of the relationship between testosterone level and mean speed under alcohol. Furthermore, results did not reveal significant mediation by BIS-11 Total score, 95% *CI* [-0.42, 1.61] of the relationship between testosterone level and mean speed under alcohol.

Discussion

To our knowledge, this preliminary study is the first to investigate endogenous testosterone levels in relation to risky driving behaviours in young male and female drivers. The first hypothesis posited that higher testosterone levels are associated with more simulated risky driving behaviours. This was not supported by our findings. Young drivers with higher salivary testosterone levels did not report higher simulated speed than young drivers with lower testosterone levels. Our null finding in the first hypothesis goes against the results of Schwerdtfeger et al. (2010) study, which found a significant association between fetal testosterone exposure and penalty driving points. One potential explanation for this discrepancy is the differences in tasks and/or measures used in both studies. The main dependent variable in the present study was mean speed that was measured objectively using the simulator. Further, this study used a randomized-controlled within-subject design, with mean speed assessed under two conditions: no alcohol and alcohol on two different days. In contrast, Schwerdtfeger et al. (2010) study utilized a cross-sectional correlational design and the dependent variable was the selfreported number of penalty driving points. Penalty driving points included both alcohol and nonalcohol-related driving violations as one variable, making it difficult to compare between the studies. Of note, in our first hypothesis, the outcome measure was the mean speed under the noalcohol condition. Therefore, the significant results in Schwerdtfeger et al. (2010) study may relate to the inclusion of alcohol-related driving violations.

Another difference between studies was that we measured endogenous testosterone levels using saliva samples, while the Schwerdtfeger et al. (2010) study used the fetal exposure to testosterone. Recent investigations into the mechanisms of action of testosterone throughout the stages of development found that testosterone affects behaviours through the combination of

organizational (i.e., fetal testosterone) and activational effects (i.e., circulatory testosterone) (Celec, Ostatníková, & Hodosy, 2015; Welker, Gruber, & Mehta, 2015). In other words, exposure to testosterone during the developmental fetal stages, influences behaviour and affects the way in which individuals respond to higher testosterone level over the lifespan, indicating that the combined measures of both fetal and circulatory levels may reflect two distinct neurobiological mechanisms of behaviours. Relatedly, future studies on testosterone-related behaviour may consider assessment of both fetal and circulatory testosterone levels.

The second hypothesis proposed that an interaction between alcohol and testosterone would be associated with an increase in risky driving. This hypothesis was supported by our findings. Specifically, young drivers with higher testosterone levels had higher mean speed than young drivers with lower testosterone levels, but only after alcohol consumption. Our results are consistent with the findings of other studies regarding testosterone-alcohol interactions in other domains of risk taking behaviours (de Water et al., 2013; Martel & Roberts, 2014; Virkkunen et al., 1994). For instance, de Water et al (2013) found an association between testosterone hormone levels and earlier onset of alcohol use in adolescent boys. Moreover, Martel et al (2014) showed that fetal testosterone exposure in combination with prenatal alcohol exposure predicted teacherrated impulsivity and disruptive behaviours in children. In our study, findings of a non-significant main effect of testosterone but a significant alcohol X testosterone interaction are coherent with the hypothesis of individual variation in response to alcohol in young drivers.

The putative neural mechanisms of the alcohol X testosterone interaction may be related to frontal volume and amygdala-orbitofrontal cortex connectivity. The influences of testosterone and alcohol on the neural systems that underlie risk taking overlap to some extent. Neuroimaging studies have shown that testosterone is associated with reduced amygdala-orbitofrontal cortex

functional connectivity (Peters et al., 2015), suggesting that testosterone levels may reduce regulatory control of amygdala activity. Furthermore, higher endogenous testosterone levels have been associated with smaller medial orbitofrontal cortex volume and more risk taking in young males (Peper et al., 2013). Importantly, acute alcohol administration has been also associated with reduced amygdala-orbitofrontal connectivity (Gorka et al., 2013). Neural connectivity between the amygdala and the orbitofrontal cortex is associated with more effective emotional regulation, decreased reward sensitivity, and better self-control (Lee et al., 2012), while lesions in this circuitry have been associated with the disruption of adaptive decision-making (Bechara et al., 1999) and risk-taking behaviours (Crone & Dahl, 2012; Peper & Dahl, 2013; Peper et al., 2013). The recent evidence of the mediation by amygdala-orbitofrontal neural connectivity in the relationship between testosterone levels and alcohol use in a sample of adolescent males (Peters et al., 2015) suggests that that neural connectivity is the most plausible neural mechanism of the alcohol X testosterone interaction. A promising avenue for future research is to explore the interplay between testosterone, alcohol, and risky driving behaviours in young drivers via imaging analyses of the amygdala-orbitofrontal cortex neural connectivity.

The third hypothesis, namely that an interaction between sex and testosterone is related to increases in risky driving, was not supported by our findings. The absence of an interaction between testosterone group and sex shows that while the main effect of testosterone is not significant when tested in males and females separately, the difference in magnitude of the testosterone effect is also not significant between both sexes. Our findings are in line with Stanton, Liening, et al. (2011) study which failed to detect a significant testosterone X sex interaction on risk taking measured by the Iowa Gambling Task. Our finding, however, goes against Sapienza et al. (2009) study which used a mixed sample of males and females. They

found a significant negative association between testosterone level and risk aversion in females, but not in males. A possible explanation of this discrepancy is the different sampling between studies. While our study recruited volunteers from the community, the sample in the Sapienza et al. (2009) study was entirely made up of graduate students in a business school program; this may have biased their risk assessment in some way. A significant note on the studies investigating the testosterone-risk taking relationship is that only one sex was tested within a single study (Batrinos, 2012; Blanco et al., 2001; Campbell et al., 2010; Coccaro et al., 2007), which left open questions regarding different methodologies and the ability to generalize the findings to the other sex.

The fourth hypothesis posited mediating roles for sensation seeking and impulsivity in the relationship between testosterone levels and simulated risky driving behaviours. First, our study did not detect significant mediating roles of sensation seeking between testosterone level and simulated speed irrespective of sex. Nevertheless, our study confirmed previous findings regarding the association between testosterone level and sensation seeking in males ($r^2 = .20$) and females ($r^2 = .26$). Furthermore, our study did not find a significant relationship between sensation seeking and speed. This finding is inconsistent with other studies that found associations between sensation seeking with risky driving and drunk-driving (Bachoo et al., 2013; Constantinou et al., 2011; Dahlen et al., 2005; Hatfield et al., 2014). One significant limitation of these studies is that they used self-report questionnaires of involvement in risky driving or alcohol violations, which are vulnerable to bias from common-method variance (Podsakoff et al., 2003) and social desirability, particularly in alcohol-related risky driving (Chang et al., 2002). A particularity of the present methodology, on the other hand, was that we used only variable, speeding in simulation, as an indicator of risky driving. Overall, risk-taking is

not only contextual and affected by internal and external factors (Bechara, 2003), as well as methodological factors, but there might also be unique relationships between personality and risk taking within each driving context.

Hypothesis 4b posited that impulsivity mediates the relationship between testosterone level and mean speed. Our findings did not support this contention. Furthermore, we did not find significant correlations between testosterone level and BIS-11 total score irrespective of sex. The lack of significant associations between testosterone level and BIS-11, though indirectly hypothesized here, is in line with other studies using self-reported measures of impulsivity as measured by the Eysenck Personality questionnaire (Blanco et al., 2001), the Impulsiveness-Venturesomeness-Empathy Inventory (Dolan, Anderson, & Deakin, 2001), or the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (Blanco et al., 2001). In contrast, testosterone levels were associated with the Iowa Gambling Task in a sample of males and females (Stanton, Liening, et al., 2011). The disadvantageous decision making in the Iowa Gambling Task has been associated with deliberate risk-taking, not impulsive decision making (Steinberg et al., 2008; Upton et al., 2011). It is possible then that impulsivity-related risk-taking behaviours may manifest in behavioural tasks of impulsivity (i.e., deliberate decision making), but not with self-reported measures of impulsivity. In support of this possibility, a sample of non-alcohol related risky drivers, documented by police records, exhibited significant differences from the control group (i.e., no past driving violation) on behavioural measures of risk taking, including mean simulator speed, Stop Light Task, Iowa Gambling Task, and the Continuous Performance Task (Brown et al., 2016). The same sample, however, did not report any significant differences from controls on the Big-five Personality measures, impulsivity measured by the UPPS-P subscales of lack of premeditation, urgency, and lack of perseverance, or the Sensitivity to Punishment, Sensitivity to

Reward Questionnaire. Therefore, the failure to detect a significant indirect effect of impulsivity between testosterone level and the simulated speed may be related to the use of psychometric measures of impulsivity, and not behavioural measures of behavioural inhibition and decision making. Future research could investigate the indirect effect of impulsivity between testosterone level and risky driving using a behavioural task of impulsivity such as the Iowa Gambling Task and the Stop Light Task.

The null findings in Hypothesis 4 may also suggest that other potential mediators are involved in the association between testosterone and simulated speed, for example reward sensitivity, approach behaviours, and punishment sensitivity. Indeed, testosterone has been associated with enhanced risk taking to obtain rewards (Stanton, Liening, et al., 2011; van Honk et al., 2004), and with substance abuse (Reynolds et al., 2007), consistent correlates of high reward sensitivity and low punishment sensitivity (Genovese & Wallace, 2007).

Implications and Future Research

This study extends our understanding of risky driving from a multidimensional perspective. In addition to self-reported measures of psychological and psychosocial factors in risky driving, use of objective biological measures can improve our understanding of the individual variability in risky driving. Consequently, more individualized interventions for mitigating these mechanisms in specific subgroups of young adults may emerge. These efforts have the potential to save the lives of young drivers.

Findings of this study require replication, preferably in varied contexts that may affect testosterone's relationship with risky driving, for example in the presence of peer influence. Further, concurrent investigations of testosterone with other hormones, such as cortisol and MAO, may help to clarify the potential interactions in relation to risky driving behaviours. Baseline cortisol activity and phasic cortisol reactivity to stressors have an important hormonal modulator of the testosterone-behaviour relationship (Glenn et al., 2011; Terburg, Morgan, & van Honk, 2009). Moreover, the interaction between the serotonin and testosterone predicted impulsivity more accurately than either factor alone (Kuepper et al., 2010), suggesting that hormonal factors may modulate the testosterone-risky driving behaviour pathway.

Strengths and Limitations

The study has several strengths and limitations. The study's main strengths lie in its robust experimental design and analyses, which were based upon data gathered mostly using objective measures (i.e., saliva testosterone level, simulated driving behaviour). In addition, use of a within-subject design has allowed the manipulation of alcohol condition in the same subjects to more precisely explore alcohol effects without the need to control for confounding factors such as inter-individual variation in alcohol metabolism.

The study has also several limitations to note. The sample size of this study was small limiting our ability to detect lesser effects. Moreover, the study is limited by the use of only a single measure, the mean speed, and thus, we do not have the ability to discuss testosterone's association with other parameters of risky driving. Noteworthy, however, is that other valid parameters of risky driving were collected by the simulator such as the acceleration, deceleration, and brake time. Given the time consideration to completing a Master's dissertation, we purposefully chose the mean speed as our outcome measure because of its documented validity as well as its accessibility in the digital recorded simulation data. We are still recruiting and testing participants for this study and we will further test our hypotheses using other measures of risky driving (e.g., mean acceleration, deceleration, etc.) prior to publication.

Another important limitation is that our study examined the association of risky driving with only one sex hormone. It is possible that estradiol is also associated with risk taking, specifically in females. Testosterone binds to androgen receptors in the brain that regulate gene expression and modulate neural excitability (Do Rego et al., 2009). However, testosterone has an additional indirect effect in the brain through its conversion to estradiol by aromatase (Rahman & Christian, 2007). Estradiol levels have previously been associated with risk taking behaviours

(Bröder & Hohmann, 2003). Investigation of testosterone level as well as estradiol level is warranted in future research.

Conclusion

This is the first study on the interplay between alcohol and testosterone in risky driving behaviours. Although preliminary, findings provide an important insight into the neurobiological mechanisms behind risky driving under small doses of alcohol and may eventually contribute to the development of prevention strategies aimed at reducing the risk associated with deep-level individual mechanisms of risk-taking.

References

- Acheson, S. K., Stein, R. M., & Swartzwelder, H. S. (1998). Impairment of semantic and figural memory by acute ethanol: age-dependent effects. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 22(7), 1437-1442.
- Adeola, R., & Gibbons, M. (2013). Get the message: distracted driving and teens. *J Trauma Nurs*, 20(3), 146-149. doi: 10.1097/JTN.0b013e3182a172cc
- Allen, J. P., Litten, R. Z., Fertig, J. B., & Babor, T. (1997). A review of research on the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT). *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 21(4), 613-619.
- Aluja, A., & Torrubia, R. (2004). Hostility-aggressiveness, sensation seeking, and sex hormones in men: re-exploring their relationship. *Neuropsychobiology*, *50*(1), 102-107.
- Apicella, C. L., Carré, J. M., & Dreber, A. (2015). Testosterone and Economic Risk Taking: A Review. Adaptive Human Behavior and Physiology Adaptive Human Behavior and Physiology, 1(3), 358-385.
- Apicella, C. L., Dreber, A., Campbell, B., Gray, P. B., Hoffman, M., & Little, A. C. (2008). Testosterone and financial risk preferences. *Evolution and human behavior.*, 29(6), 384.
- Apicella, C. L., Dreber, A., & Mollerstrom, J. (2014). Salivary testosterone change following monetary wins and losses predicts future financial risk-taking. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 39, 58-64. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.09.025
- ASA. (2011). Sex, Gender, Gender identity, Sexual Orientation.
- Babor, T. F., Higgins-Biddle, J. C., Saunders, J. B., & Monteiro, M. G. (2001). The alcohol use disorders identification test. *Guidelines for use in primary care*, 2.
- Bachoo, S., Bhagwanjee, A., & Govender, K. (2013). The influence of anger, impulsivity, sensation seeking and driver attitudes on risky driving behaviour among post-graduate university students in Durban, South Africa. Accid Anal Prev, 55, 67-76.
- Ballesteros, M. F., & Dischinger, P. (2000). Characteristics of traffic crashes in Maryland (1996-98): differences among the youngest drivers. *Annual proceedings / Association for the Advancement of Automotive Medicine. Association for the Advancement of Automotive Medicine, 44, 311-320.*
- Bates, M. E., Bowden, S. C., & Barry, D. (2002). Neurocognitive impairment associated with alcohol use disorders: implications for treatment. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol*, *10*(3), 193-212.
- Batrinos, M. L. (2012). Testosterone and aggressive behavior in man. *Int J Endocrinol Metab*, *10*(3), 563-568. doi: 10.5812/ijem.3661
- Beauducel, A., Brocke, B., Strobel, A., & Strobel, A. (1999). Construct validity of sensation seeking: A psychometric investigation. *Zeitschrift fur Differentielle und Diagnostische Psychologie*, 20(3), 155-171.

- Bechara, A. (2003). Risky business: emotion, decision-making, and addiction. *J Gambl Stud*, 19(1), 23-51.
- Bechara, A., Damasio, H., Damasio, A. R., & Lee, G. P. (1999). Different contributions of the human amygdala and ventromedial prefrontal cortex to decision-making. *J Neurosci*, 19(13), 5473-5481.
- Beck, K. H. (2010). Trends in alcohol-related risky traffic behaviours among college students.
- Bedard, M. B., Parkkari, M., Weaver, B., Riendeau, J., & Dahlquist, M. (2010). Assessment of driving performance using a simulator protocol: validity and reproducibility. *Am J Occup Ther*, 64(2), 336-340.
- Bergomi, M., Vivoli, G., Rovesti, S., Bussetti, P., Ferrari, A., & Vivoli, R. (2010). [Role of some psycho-physiological factors on driving safety]. *Ann Ig*, 22(5), 387-400.
- Berman, A. H., Bergman, H., Palmstierna, T., & Schlyter, F. (2005). Evaluation of the Drug Use Disorders Identification Test (DUDIT) in criminal justice and detoxification settings and in a Swedish population sample. *Eur Addict Res, 11*(1), 22-31.
- Bhasin, S., Cunningham, G. R., Hayes, F. J., Matsumoto, A. M., Snyder, P. J., Swerdloff, R. S., & Montori, V. M. (2010). Testosterone therapy in men with androgen deficiency syndromes: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 95(6), 2536-2559. doi: 10.1210/jc.2009-2354
- Bingham, C. R., & Shope, J. T. (2004). Adolescent developmental antecedents of risky driving among young adults. *J Stud Alcohol*, 65(1), 84-94.
- Bjork, J. M., Moeller, F. G., Dougherty, D. M., & Swann, A. C. (2001). Endogenous plasma testosterone levels and commission errors in women: A preliminary report. *Physiol Behav*, 73(1-2), 217-221.
- Blakemore, S. J. (2008). The social brain in adolescence. *Nat Rev Neurosci, 9*(4), 267-277. doi: 10.1038/nrn2353
- Blanco, C., Ibáñez, A., Blanco-Jerez, C. R., Baca-Garcia, E., & Sáiz-Ruiz, J. (2001). Plasma testosterone and pathological gambling. *Psychiatry Res*, 105(1-2), 1-2.
- Blencowe, T., Vimpari, K., & Lillsunde, P. (2011). Benzodiazepine whole blood concentrations in cases with positive oral fluid on-site screening test results using the DrugWipe((R)) single for benzodiazepines. *J Anal Toxicol*, *35*(6), 349-356.
- Blows, S., Ameratunga, S., Ivers, R. Q., Lo, S. K., & Norton, R. (2005). Risky driving habits and motor vehicle driver injury. *Accid Anal Prev*, 37(4), 619-624. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2005.03.003
- Boksem, M. A., Mehta, P. H., Van den Bergh, B., van Son, V., Trautmann, S. T., Roelofs, K., . . . Sanfey, A. G. (2013). Testosterone inhibits trust but promotes reciprocity. *Psychol Sci*, 24(11), 2306-2314.
- Borowsky, A., & Oron-Gilad, T. (2013). Exploring the effects of driving experience on hazard awareness and risk perception via real-time hazard identification, hazard classification, and rating tasks. *Accid Anal Prev*, *59*, 548-565. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2013.07.008

- Bos, P. A., Hermans, E. J., Ramsey, N. F., & van Honk, J. (2012). The neural mechanisms by which testosterone acts on interpersonal trust. *YNIMG NeuroImage*, *61*(3), 730-737.
- Bos, P. A., Panksepp, J., Bluthé, R.-M., & Honk, J. v. (2012). Acute effects of steroid hormones and neuropeptides on human social-emotional behavior: A review of single administration studies. *YFRNE Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 33(1), 17-35.
- Bratberg, G. H., Nilsen, T. I. L., Holmen, T. L., & Vatten, L. J. (2005). Sexual maturation in early adolescence and alcohol drinking and cigarette smoking in late adolescence: a prospective study of 2,129 Norwegian girls and boys. *Eur J Pediatr European Journal of Pediatrics, 164*(10), 621-625.
- Breitmeier, D., Seeland-Schulze, I., Hecker, H., & Schneider, U. (2007). CLINICAL STUDY: The influence of blood alcohol concentrations of around 0.03% on neuropsychological functions double-blind, placebo-controlled investigation. ADB Addiction Biology, 12(2), 183-189.
- Bröder, A., & Hohmann, N. (2003). Variations in risk taking behavior over the menstrual cycle:An improved replication. *ENS*</cja:jid> Evolution and Human Behavior, 24(6), 391-398.
- Brown, T. G., Dongier, M., Ouimet, M. C., Tremblay, J., Chanut, F., Legault, L., & Ng Ying Kin, N. M. (2010). Brief motivational interviewing for DWI recidivists who abuse alcohol and are not participating in DWI intervention: a randomized controlled trial. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 34(2), 292-301.
- Brown, T. G., Gianoulakis, C., Tremblay, J., Nadeau, L., Dongier, M., Ng Ying Kin, N. M., . . . Ouimet, M. C. (2005). Salivary cortisol: a predictor of convictions for driving under the influence of alcohol? *Alcohol Alcohol*, 40(5), 474-481. doi: 10.1093/alcalc/agh165
- Brown, TG, Ouimet, MC, Eldeb, M, Tremblay, J., Vingilis, E., Nadeau, L., Pruessner, J., Bechara, A. (2016). Personality, Executive Control, and Neurobiological Characteristics Associated with Different Forms of Risky Driving. *PLOS ONE* 11(2): e0150227. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0150227
- Calhoun, V. D., Pekar, J. J., & Pearlson, G. D. (2004). Alcohol intoxication effects on simulated driving: exploring alcohol-dose effects on brain activation using functional MRI. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *29*(11), 2097-2017. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1300543
- Campbell, B. C., Dreber, A., Apicella, C. L., Eisenberg, D. T., Gray, P. B., Little, A. C., . . . Lum, J. K. (2010). Testosterone exposure, dopaminergic reward, and sensation-seeking in young men. *Physiol Behav*, 99(4), 451-456. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2009.12.011
- Canada, T. (2011). Road Safety in Canada.
- Canada, T. (2013). Canadian Motor Vehicle Traffic Collision Statistics.
- Carré, J. M., Iselin, A.-M. R., Welker, K. M., Hariri, A. R., & Dodge, K. A. (2014). Testosterone reactivity to provocation mediates the effect of early intervention on aggressive behavior. *Psychol Sci*, 25(5), 1140-1146.
- Carré, J. M., & McCormick, C. M. (2008). Aggressive behavior and change in salivary testosterone concentrations predict willingness to engage in a competitive task. *Horm Behav*, 54(3), 403-409.

- Carré, J. M., McCormick, C. M., & Hariri, A. R. (2011). The social neuroendocrinology of human aggression. *PNEC Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *36*(7), 935-944.
- Casto, K. V., James Madison, U., James Madison, U., & Department of Graduate, P. (2012). Intercollegiate cross-country competition : racing is associated with a substantial increase in salivary levels of cortisol and testosterone in men and women. from http://www.lib.jmu.edu/general/etd/2012/masters/castokv/castokv_masters_04-18-2012.pdf
- CCSA. (2014). Canadian centre on Substance Abuse: Alcohol.
- CDCP. (2011). Non-fatal traumatic brain injuries related to sports and recreation activities among person aged < 19 years.
- Celec, P., Ostatníková, D., & Hodosy, J. (2015). On the effects of testosterone on brain behavioral functions. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, 9.
- Chamberlain, S. R., & Sahakian, B. J. (2007). The neuropsychiatry of impulsivity. *Curr Opin Psychiatry*, 20(3), 255-261. doi: 10.1097/YCO.0b013e3280ba4989
- Chang, I., Gregory, C., & Lapham, S. C. (2002). Review of Screening Instruments and Procedures for Evaluating DWI [Driving While Intoxicated/Impaired] Offenders.
- Chapman, P., Ismail, R., & Underwood, G. (1999). Waking up at the wheel : accidents, attention and the time-gap experience. *Vision in vehicles--VII.*, 131-138.
- Clarke, D. D., Ward, P., Bartle, C., & Truman, W. (2006). Young driver accidents in the UK: The influence of age, experience, and time of day. *AAP Accident Analysis and Prevention*, *38*(5), 871-878.
- Claus, E. D., Ewing, S. W., Filbey, F. M., Sabbineni, A., & Hutchison, K. E. (2011). Identifying neurobiological phenotypes associated with alcohol use disorder severity. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 36(10), 2086-2096. doi: 10.1038/npp.2011.99
- Coccaro, E. F., Beresford, B., Minar, P., Kaskow, J., & Geracioti, T. (2007). CSF testosterone: relationship to aggression, impulsivity, and venturesomeness in adult males with personality disorder. *J Psychiatr Res*, 41(6), 488-492. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2006.04.009
- Cohen-Bendahan, C. C., van de Beek, C., & Berenbaum, S. A. (2005). Prenatal sex hormone effects on child and adult sex-typed behavior: methods and findings. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 29(2), 353-384. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2004.11.004
- Constantinou, E., Panayiotou, G., Konstantinou, N., Loutsiou-Ladd, A., & Kapardis, A. (2011). Risky and aggressive driving in young adults: Personality matters. *Accid Anal Prev*, 43(4), 1323-1331. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2011.02.002
- Couture, S., Brown, T. G., Ouimet, M. C., Gianoulakis, C., Tremblay, J., & Carbonneau, R. (2008). Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis response to stress in male DUI recidivists. *Accid Anal Prev*, 40(1), 246-253. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2007.06.003
- Couture, Z., Gianoulakis, C., Tremblay, J., Kin, N., Brochu, S., Pruessner, J., . . . Ouimet, M. C. (2015). Lower Cortisol Activity is Associated with First-Time Driving while Impaired. *SART Substance Abuse: Research and Treatment*, 25.

- Crone, E. A., & Dahl, R. E. (2012). Understanding adolescence as a period of social-affective engagement and goal flexibility. *Nat Rev Neurosci, 13*(9), 636-650.
- Cross, C. P., Copping, L. T., & Campbell, A. (2011). Sex differences in impulsivity: a metaanalysis. *Psychol Bull, 137*(1), 97-130. doi: 10.1037/a0021591
- Crouch, D. J., Walsh, J. M., Cangianelli, L., & Quintela, O. (2008). Laboratory evaluation and field application of roadside oral fluid collectors and drug testing devices. *Ther Drug Monit*, 30(2), 188-195. doi: 10.1097/FTD.0b013e3181679249
- Cservenka, A., Herting, M. M., Seghete, K. L., Hudson, K. A., & Nagel, B. J. (2012). High and low sensation seeking adolescents show distinct patterns of brain activity during reward processing. *Neuroimage*, 66c, 184-193. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.11.003
- Cueva, C. R., R. Edward; Spencer, Tom; Rani, Nisha; Tempest, Michelle; Tobler, Philippe N.; Herbert, Joe; Rustichini, Aldo. (2015). Cortisol and testosterone increase financial risk taking and may destabilize markets. from http://hdl.handle.net/10045/48171
- Cyders, M. A., Flory, K., Rainer, S., & Smith, G. T. (2009). The role of personality dispositions to risky behavior in predicting first-year college drinking. *Addiction*, 104(2), 193-202.
- Dabbs, J. M., Jr. (1990). Salivary testosterone measurements: reliability across hours, days, and weeks. *Physiol Behav*, 48(1), 83-86.
- Dager, A. D., Anderson, B. M., Rosen, R., Khadka, S., Sawyer, B., Jiantonio-Kelly, R. E., ... Pearlson, G. D. (2014). Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) response to alcohol pictures predicts subsequent transition to heavy drinking in college students. *Addiction*, 109(4), 585-595. doi: 10.1111/add.12437
- Dahl, R. E. (2004). Adolescent brain development: a period of vulnerabilities and opportunities. Keynote address. *Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1021*, 1-22. doi: 10.1196/annals.1308.001
- Dahlen, E. R., Martin, R. C., Ragan, K., & Kuhlman, M. M. (2005). Driving anger, sensation seeking, impulsiveness, and boredom proneness in the prediction of unsafe driving. Accid Anal Prev, 37(2), 341-348.
- Dambacher, F., Sack, A. T., Lobbestael, J., Arntz, A., Brugman, S., & Schuhmann, T. (2014). Out of control Evidence for anterior insula involvement in motor impulsivity and reactive aggression. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsu077
- Daviaud, J., Fournet, D., Ballongue, C., Guillem, G. P., Leblanc, A., Casellas, C., & Pau, B. (1993). Reliability and feasibility of pregnancy home-use tests: laboratory validation and diagnostic evaluation by 638 volunteers. *Clin Chem*, *39*(1), 53-59.
- David, W., Lisa, J., Jean, T.,. (2000) On the Road: Driving Decisions Workshop. University of Michigan.
- Davoren, M. P., Shiely, F., Byrne, M., & Perry, I. J. (2015). Hazardous alcohol consumption among university students in Ireland: a cross-sectional study. *BMJ open*, *5*(1).
- de Water, E., Braams, B. R., Crone, E. A., & Peper, J. S. (2013). Pubertal maturation and sex steroids are related to alcohol use in adolescents. *YHBEH Hormones and Behavior*, 63(2), 392-397.

- de Winter, J. C., de Groot, S., Mulder, M., Wieringa, P. A., Dankelman, J., & Mulder, J. A. (2009). Relationships between driving simulator performance and driving test results. *Ergonomics*, 52(2), 137-153. doi: 10.1080/00140130802277521
- de Wit, H., Crean, J., & Richards, J. B. (2000). Effects of d-amphetamine and ethanol on a measure of behavioral inhibition in humans. *Behav Neurosci*, *114*(4), 830-837.
- Dedert, E. A., McDuffie, J. R., Stein, R., McNiel, J. M., Kosinski, A. S., Freiermuth, C. E., . . . Williams, J. W., Jr. (2015). Electronic Interventions for Alcohol Misuse and Alcohol Use Disorders: A Systematic Review. *Annals of internal medicine*, 163(3), 205-214.
- Deffenbacher, J. L., Richards, T. L., Filetti, L. B., & Lynch, R. S. (2005). Angry drivers: a test of state-trait theory. *Violence Vict*, 20(4), 455-469.
- Ding, W. N., Sun, J. H., Sun, Y. W., Chen, X., Zhou, Y., Zhuang, Z. G., . . . Du, Y. S. (2014). Trait impulsivity and impaired prefrontal impulse inhibition function in adolescents with internet gaming addiction revealed by a Go/No-Go fMRI study. *Behav Brain Funct*, 10(1), 20. doi: 10.1186/1744-9081-10-20
- Dirksen, C. L., Howard, J. A., Cronin-Golomb, A., & Oscar-Berman, M. (2006). Patterns of prefrontal dysfunction in alcoholics with and without Korsakoff's syndrome, patients with Parkinson's disease, and patients with rupture and repair of the anterior communicating artery. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*, 2(3), 327-339.
- Do Rego, J. L., Seong, J. Y., Burel, D., Leprince, J., Luu-The, V., Tsutsui, K., . . . Vaudry, H. (2009). Neurosteroid biosynthesis: Enzymatic pathways and neuroendocrine regulation by neurotransmitters and neuropeptides. *YFRNE Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 30(3), 259-301.
- Dolan, M., Anderson, I. M., & Deakin, J. F. (2001). Relationship between 5-HT function and impulsivity and aggression in male offenders with personality disorders. *The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science, 178*, 352-359.
- Dreber, A., & Hoffman, M. (2007). Portfolio selection in utero. Stockholm School of Economics.
- Durdiakova, J., Fabryova, H., Koborova, I., Ostatnikova, D., & Celec, P. (2013). The effects of saliva collection, handling and storage on salivary testosterone measurement. *Steroids*, *17*(13), 00198-00190.
- Eensoo, D., Paaver, M., Harro, M., & Harro, J. (2005). Predicting drunk driving: contribution of alcohol use and related problems, traffic behaviour, personality and platelet monoamine oxidase (MAO) activity. *Alcohol Alcohol*, 40(2).
- Eensoo, D., Paaver, M., Pulver, A., Harro, M., & Harro, J. (2004). Low platelet MAO activity associated with high dysfunctional impulsivity and antisocial behavior: evidence from drunk drivers. *Psychopharmacology Psychopharmacology*, *172*(3), 356-358.
- Elander, J., West, R., & French, D. (1993). Behavioral correlates of individual differences in road-traffic crash risk: an examination method and findings. *Psychol Bull*, *113*(2), 279-294.
- Elliott, M. R., Shope, J. T., Raghunathan, T. E., & Waller, P. F. (2006). Gender differences among young drivers in the association between high-risk driving and substance use/environmental influences. *J Stud Alcohol*, 67(2), 252-260.

- Evans, M. A., Martz, R., Rodda, B. E., Kiplinger, G. F., & Forney, R. B. (1974). Quantitative relationship between blood alcohol concentration and psychomotor performance. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, *15*(3), 253-260.
- Evenden, J. L. (1999). The pharmacology of impulsive behaviour in rats VII: the effects of serotonergic agonists and antagonists on responding under a discrimination task using unreliable visual stimuli. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, *146*(4), 422-431.
- Fastenmeier, W., & Gstalter, H. (2007). Driving task analysis as a tool in traffic safety research and practice. *Safety Science*, *45*(9), 952-979.
- Feldman, H. A., Longcope, C., Derby, C. A., Johannes, C. B., Araujo, A. B., Coviello, A. D., ... McKinlay, J. B. (2002). Age trends in the level of serum testosterone and other hormones in middle-aged men: longitudinal results from the Massachusetts male aging study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 87(2), 589-598. doi: 10.1210/jcem.87.2.8201
- Ferrara, S. D., Zancaner, S., & Giorgetti, R. (1994). Low blood alcohol concentrations and driving impairment. A review of experimental studies and international legislation. *Int J Legal Med*, 106(4), 169-177.
- Fiers, T., Delanghe, J., T'Sjoen, G., Van Caenegem, E., Wierckx, K., & Kaufman, J. M. (2014). A critical evaluation of salivary testosterone as a method for the assessment of serum testosterone. *Steroids*, 86, 5-9. doi: 10.1016/j.steroids.2014.04.013
- Fillmore, M. T. (2003). Drug abuse as a problem of impaired control: current approaches and findings. *Behav Cogn Neurosci Rev*, 2(3), 179-197.
- Fillmore, M. T., Blackburn, J. S., & Harrison, E. L. (2008). Acute disinhibiting effects of alcohol as a factor in risky driving behavior. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, 95(1-2), 97-106. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2007.12.018
- Fillmore, M. T., & Vogel-Sprott, M. (2000). Response inhibition under alcohol: effects of cognitive and motivational conflict. *J Stud Alcohol*, *61*(2), 239-246.
- Fonte, A., & Mota-Cardoso, R. (2013). [MAST and AUDIT. Evaluation of psychometric characteristics in patients with alcohol dependence]. *Acta Med Port*, *26*(4), 335-340.
- Fossati, A., Barratt, E. S., Acquarini, E., & Di Ceglie, A. (2002). Psychometric properties of an adolescent version of the Barratt Impulsiveness Scale-11 for a sample of Italian high school students. *Percept Mot Skills*, *95*(2), 621-635.
- Fossati, A., Di Ceglie, A., Acquarini, E., & Barratt, E. S. (2001). Psychometric properties of an Italian version of the Barratt Impulsiveness Scale-11 (BIS-11) in nonclinical subjects. J Clin Psychol, 57(6), 815-828.
- Freeman, J. S.-P. B. W. I. H. N. (2012). Vulnerable road user groups: a review of younger drivers, motorcyclists and older drivers. *Vulnerable Groups & Inclusion Vulnerable Groups & Inclusion, 3*.
- Freydier, C., Berthelon, C., Bastien-Toniazzo, M., & Gineyt, G. (2014). Divided attention in young drivers under the influence of alcohol. J Safety Res, 49, 13.e11-18. doi: 10.1016/j.jsr.2014.02.003
- Frezza, M., di Padova, C., Pozzato, G., Terpin, M., Baraona, E., & Lieber, C. S. (1990). High blood alcohol levels in women. The role of decreased gastric alcohol dehydrogenase

activity and first-pass metabolism. *N Engl J Med*, 322(2), 95-99. doi: 10.1056/nejm199001113220205

- Fujisawa, T. X., Nishitani, S., Ishii, S., & Shinohara, K. (2011). Differential modulation of impulsive behavior by loneliness and testosterone in adolescent females. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett*, 32(6), 836-840.
- Funahashi, S. (2001). Neuronal mechanisms of executive control by the prefrontal cortex. *Neurosci Res*, *39*(2), 147-165.
- Gambineri, A., Fanelli, F., Prontera, O., Repaci, A., Di Dalmazi, G., Zanotti, L., . . . Pasquali, R. (2013). Prevalence of hyperandrogenic states in late adolescent and young women: epidemiological survey on italian high-school students. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 98(4), 1641-1650.
- Genovese, J. E., & Wallace, D. (2007). Reward sensitivity and substance abuse in middle school and high school students. *The Journal of genetic psychology*, *168*(4), 465-469.
- Gibb, K. A., Yee, A. S., Johnston, C. C., Martin, S. D., & Nowak, R. M. (1984). Accuracy and usefulness of a breath alcohol analyzer. *Ann Emerg Med*, *13*(7), 516-520.
- Giotakos, O. (2013). [Aggressive behavior: Theoretical and biological aspects]. *Psychiatrike*, 24(2), 117-131.
- Glenn, A. L., Raine, A., Schug, R. A., Gao, Y., & Granger, D. A. (2011). Increased testosteroneto-cortisol ratio in psychopathy. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, *120*(2), 389-399.
- Gorka, S. M., Fitzgerald, D. A., King, A. C., & Phan, K. L. (2013). Alcohol attenuates amygdalafrontal connectivity during processing social signals in heavy social drinkers: a preliminary pharmaco-fMRI study. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 229(1), 141-154.
- Hamamura, T., Heine, S. J., & Paulhus, D. L. (2008). Cultural differences in response styles: The role of dialectical thinking. *PAID Personality and Individual Differences*, 44(4), 932-942.
- Hatfield, J., & Fernandes, R. (2009). The role of risk-propensity in the risky driving of younger drivers. *Accid Anal Prev*, 41(1), 25-35. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2008.08.023
- Hatfield, J., Fernandes, R., & Job, R. F. (2014). Thrill and Adventure Seeking as a modifier of the relationship of perceived risk with risky driving among young drivers. *Accid Anal Prev*, 62, 223-229. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2013.09.028
- Hayes, A. F. (2009). Beyond Baron and Kenny: Statistical mediation analysis in the new millennium. *Commun. Monogr. Communication Monographs*, 76(4), 408-420.
- Hayes, A. F. (2010). *Quantifying and Testing Indirect Effects in Simple Mediation Models When the Constituent Paths Are Nonlinear.*
- Hayes, A. F. (2012). PROCESS: A versatile computational tool for observed variable mediation, moderation, and conditional process modeling. *Manuscript submitted for publication*.
- Helland, A., Jenssen, G. D., Lervag, L. E., Westin, A. A., Moen, T., Sakshaug, K., . . . Slordal, L. (2013). Comparison of driving simulator performance with real driving after alcohol intake: a randomised, single blind, placebo-controlled, cross-over trial. *Accid Anal Prev*, 53, 9-16. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2012.12.042

Hendricks, D. L. (2001). The alcohol-use disorder identification test. Summary Technical Report.

- Hingson, R., Heeren, T., Zakocs, R., Winter, M., & Wechsler, H. (2003). Age of first intoxication, heavy drinking, driving after drinking and risk of unintentional injury among US college students. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 64(1), 23.
- Howat, P. (1986). *Effects of alcohol and diazepam, singly and in combination, on some aspects of driving performance.*
- Hsieh, L., Young, R. A., Bowyer, S. M., Moran, J. E., Genik, R. J., 2nd, Green, C. C., ...
 Seaman, S. (2009). Conversation effects on neural mechanisms underlying reaction time to visual events while viewing a driving scene: fMRI analysis and asynchrony model. *Brain Res*, 1251, 162-175. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2008.10.002
- Ikkai, A., & Curtis, C. E. (2011). Common neural mechanisms supporting spatial working memory, attention and motor intention. *Neuropsychologia*, 49(6), 1428-1434. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.12.020
- Iversen, H. (2004). Risk-taking attitudes and risky driving behaviour. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 7(3), 135-150. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2003.11.003
- Jakubczyk, A., Klimkiewicz, A., Wnorowska, A., Mika, K., Bugaj, M., Podgorska, A., . . . Wojnar, M. (2013). Impulsivity, risky behaviors and accidents in alcohol-dependent patients. Accid Anal Prev, 51, 150-155. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2012.11.013
- Johnson, S. G., Joplin, G. F., & Burrin, J. M. (1987). Direct assay for testosterone in saliva: relationship with a direct serum free testosterone assay. *Clin Chim Acta*, *163*(3), 309-318.
- Jonah, B. A. (1986). Accident risk and risk-taking behaviour among young drivers. *Accid Anal Prev*, *18*(4), 255-271.
- Jonah, B. A., Thiessen, R., & Au-Yeung, E. (2001). Sensation seeking, risky driving and behavioral adaptation. *Accid Anal Prev*, *33*(5), 679-684.
- Jones, A. W. (1999). The drunkest drinking driver in Sweden: blood alcohol concentration 0.545% w/v. *J Stud Alcohol*, 60(3), 400-406.
- Joseph, J. E., Liu, X., Jiang, Y., Lynam, D., & Kelly, T. H. (2009). Neural correlates of emotional reactivity in sensation seeking. *Psychol Sci*, 20(2), 215-223. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02283.x
- Kerr, K. L., Avery, J. A., Barcalow, J. C., Moseman, S. E., Bodurka, J., Bellgowan, P. S., & Simmons, W. K. (2014). Trait impulsivity is related to ventral ACC and amygdala activity during primary reward anticipation. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci*. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsu023
- Kerr, R. (1982). Psychomotor learning. Philadelphia: Saunders College Pub.
- Knoch, D., & Fehr, E. (2007). Resisting the Power of Temptations The Right Prefrontal Cortex and Self-Control. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1104(01), 123-134.
- Koelega, H. S. (1995). Alcohol and vigilance performance: a review. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl*), 118(3), 233-249.

- Kuepper, Y., Alexander, N., Osinsky, R., Mueller, E., Schmitz, A., Netter, P., & Hennig, J.
 (2010). AggressionInteractions of serotonin and testosterone in healthy men and women.
 BBR Behavioural Brain Research, 206(1), 93-100.
- Laapotti, S., Keskinen, E., Hatakka, M., & Katila, A. (2001). Novice drivers' accidents and violations — a failure on higher or lower hierarchical levels of driving behaviour. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 33(6), 759-769. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0001-4575(00)00090-7
- Lauriola, M., Panno, A., Levin, I. P., & Lejuez, C. W. (2014). Individual Differences in Risky Decision Making: A Meta-analysis of Sensation Seeking and Impulsivity with the Balloon Analogue Risk Task. *BDM Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 27(1), 20-36.
- Lee, H., Heller, A. S., van Reekum, C. M., Nelson, B., & Davidson, R. J. (2012). Amygdalaprefrontal coupling underlies individual differences in emotion regulation. *Neuroimage*, 62(3), 1575-1581.
- Li, Y. O., Adali, T., & Calhoun, V. D. (2012). Group Study of Simulated Driving fMRI Data by Multiset Canonical Correlation Analysis. J Signal Process Syst, 68(1), 31-48. doi: 10.1007/s11265-010-0572-8
- Liang, W., Shediac-Rizkallah, M. C., Celentano, D. D., & Rohde, C. (1999). A population-based study of age and gender differences in patterns of health-related behaviors. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 17(1), 8-17.
- Liening, S. H., Stanton, S. J., Saini, E. K., & Schultheiss, O. C. (2010). Salivary testosterone, cortisol, and progesterone: two-week stability, interhormone correlations, and effects of time of day, menstrual cycle, and oral contraceptive use on steroid hormone levels. *Physiol Behav*, 99(1), 8-16. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2009.10.001
- Longcope, C., Hui, S. L., & Johnston, C. C., Jr. (1987). Free estradiol, free testosterone, and sex hormone-binding globulin in perimenopausal women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 64(3), 513-518.
- Lustig, R. H. (1996). In vitro models for the effects of sex hormones on neurons. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 784, 370-380.
- MacLusky, N. J., Hajszan, T., Prange-Kiel, J., & Leranth, C. (2006). Androgen modulation of hippocampal synaptic plasticity. *Neuroscience*, 138(3), 957-965. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005.12.054
- MacPherson, L., Magidson, J. F., Reynolds, E. K., Kahler, C. W., & Lejuez, C. W. (2010). Changes in sensation seeking and risk-taking propensity predict increases in alcohol use among early adolescents. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 34(8), 1400-1408.
- Magid, V., MacLean, M. G., & Colder, C. R. (2007). Differentiating between sensation seeking and impulsivity through their mediated relations with alcohol use and problems. *Addictive Behaviors*, 32(10), 2046-2061.
- Marshall, A. W., Kingstone, D., Boss, M., & Morgan, M. Y. (1983). Ethanol Elimination in Males and Females: Relationship to Menstrual Cycle and Body Composition. *HEP Hepatology*, 3(5), 701-706.

- Martel, M. M., & Roberts, B. A. (2014). Prenatal testosterone increases sensitivity to prenatal stressors in males with disruptive behavior disorders. *Neurotoxicol Teratol*, 44c, 11-17. doi: 10.1016/j.ntt.2014.05.001
- Martin, T. L., Solbeck, P. A. M., Mayers, D. J., Langille, R. M., Buczek, Y., & Pelletier, M. R. (2013). A Review of Alcohol-Impaired Driving: The Role of Blood Alcohol Concentration and Complexity of the Driving Task. *JFO Journal of Forensic Sciences*, 58(5), 1238-1250.
- Masten, S. V., Foss, R. D., & Marshall, S. W. (2011). Graduated driver licensing and fatal crashes involving 16- to 19-year-old drivers. *JAMA*, *306*(10), 1098-1103.
- Matsumoto, A. (2001). Androgen stimulates neuronal plasticity in the perineal motoneurons of aged male rats. *J Comp Neurol*, 430(3), 389-395.
- Matsumoto, A. (2005). Testosterone prevents synaptic loss in the perineal motoneuron pool in the spinal cord in male rats exposed to chronic stress. *Stress*, 8(2), 133-140. doi: 10.1080/10253890500140642
- Mattsson, A., Schalling, D., Olweus, D., Low, H., & Svensson, J. (1980). Plasma testosterone, aggressive behavior, and personality dimensions in young male delinquents. *J Am Acad Child Psychiatry*, 19(3), 476-490.
- Matuszka, B., Bácskai, E., Berman, A. H., Czobor, P., Sinadinovic, K., & Gerevich, J. (2014). Psychometric characteristics of the Drug Use Disorders Identification Test (DUDIT) and the Drug Use Disorders Identification Test-Extended (DUDIT-E) among young drug users in Hungary. *International journal of behavioral medicine*, 21(3), 547-555.
- Mayhew, D. R., Simpson, H. M., Wood, K. M., Lonero, L., Clinton, K. M., & Johnson, A. G. (2011). On-road and simulated driving: concurrent and discriminant validation. J Safety Res, 42(4), 267-275. doi: 10.1016/j.jsr.2011.06.004
- McHugh, M. J., Demers, C. H., Braud, J., Briggs, R., Adinoff, B., & Stein, E. A. (2013). Striatalinsula circuits in cocaine addiction: implications for impulsivity and relapse risk. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse, 39(6), 424-432. doi: 10.3109/00952990.2013.847446
- Meda, S. A., Stevens, M. C., Potenza, M. N., Pittman, B., Gueorguieva, R., Andrews, M. M., ... Pearlson, G. D. (2009). Investigating the behavioral and self-report constructs of impulsivity domains using principal component analysis. *Behav Pharmacol*, 20(5-6), 390-399.
- Mehta, P. H., & Josephs, R. A. (2006). Testosterone change after losing predicts the decision to compete again. *YHBEH Hormones and Behavior*, *50*(5), 684-692.
- Mesken, J., Lajunen, T., & Summala, H. (2002). Interpersonal violations, speeding violations and their relation to accident involvement in Finland. *Ergonomics*, 45(7), 469-483. doi: 10.1080/00140130210129682
- Miller, J. W., Naimi, T. S., Brewer, R. D., & Jones, S. E. (2007). Binge drinking and associated health risk behaviors among high school students. *Pediatrics*, *119*(1), 76-85.
- Miller, M. A., & Fillmore, M. T. (2013). Protracted impairment of impulse control under an acute dose of alcohol: A time-course analysis. *Addict Behav.* doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2013.10.035

- Miller, M. A., Weafer, J., & Fillmore, M. T. (2009). Gender differences in alcohol impairment of simulated driving performance and driving-related skills. *Alcohol Alcohol*, 44(6), 586-593.
- Mirman, J. H., Albert, D., Jacobsohn, L. S., & Winston, F. K. (2012). Factors associated with adolescents' propensity to drive with multiple passengers and to engage in risky driving behaviors. J Adolesc Health, 50(6), 634-640. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2011.10.256
- Moan, I. S., Norstrom, T., & Storvoll, E. E. (2013). Alcohol use and drunk driving: the modifying effect of impulsivity. *J Stud Alcohol Drugs*, 74(1), 114-119.
- Morrison, L., Begg, D. J., & Langley, J. D. (2002). Personal and situational influences on drink driving and sober driving among a cohort of young adults. *Inj Prev*, 8(2), 111-115.
- NHTSA. (1995). Synthesis Report: Examination of Target Vehicular Crashes and Potential ITS Countermeasures.
- NHTSA. (2001). Traffic safety facts.
- NHTSA. (2014). Alcohol-Impaired Driving.
- Nordfjaern, T., & Rundmo, T. (2013). Road traffic safety beliefs and driver behaviors among personality subtypes of drivers in the Norwegian population. *Traffic Inj Prev, 14*(7), 690-696. doi: 10.1080/15389588.2012.759655
- Norris, F. H., Matthews, B. A., & Riad, J. K. (2000). Characterological, situational, and behavioral risk factors for motor vehicle accidents: a prospective examination. *Accid Anal Prev*, 32(4), 505-515.
- Ogden, E. J., & Moskowitz, H. (2004). Effects of alcohol and other drugs on driver performance. *Traffic Inj Prev*, 5(3), 185-198. doi: 10.1080/15389580490465201
- Olson, E. A., Collins, P. F., Hooper, C. J., Muetzel, R., Lim, K. O., & Luciana, M. (2009). White matter integrity predicts delay discounting behavior in 9- to 23-year-olds: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 21(7), 1406-1421. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2009.21107
- Oreland, L. (2004). Platelet monoamine oxidase, personality and alcoholism: the rise, fall and resurrection. *Neurotoxicology*, 25(1-2), 1-2.
- Oreland, L., Nordquist, N., Hallman, J., Harro, J., & Nilsson, K. W. (2010). Environment and the serotonergic system. *Eur Psychiatry*, 25(5), 304-306. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2009.12.017
- Ouimet, M. C., Brown, T. G., Guo, F., Klauer, S. G., Simons-Morton, B. G., Fang, Y., ... Dingus, T. A. (2014). Higher Crash and Near-Crash Rates in Teenaged Drivers With Lower Cortisol Response: An 18-Month Longitudinal, Naturalistic Study. JAMA Pediatr. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2013.5387
- Ouimet, M. C., Duffy, C. W., Simons-Morton, B. G., Brown, T. G., & Fisher, D. L. (2011). Understanding and Changing the Younger Driver Problem: A Review of the Randomized Controlled Trials Conducted with Driving Simulation.
- Ouimet, M. C., Morton, B. G., Noelcke, E. A., Williams, A. F., Leaf, W. A., Preusser, D. F., & Hartos, J. L. (2008). Perceived risk and other predictors and correlates of teenagers' safety belt use during the first year of licensure. *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 9(1), 1-10.

- Ouimet, M. C., Simons-Morton, B. G., Zador, P. L., Lerner, N. D., Freedman, M., Duncan, G. D., & Wang, J. (2010). Using the U.S. National Household Travel Survey to estimate the impact of passenger characteristics on young drivers relative risk of fatal crash involvement. Accident Analysis & Prevention Accident Analysis & Prevention, 42(2), 689-694.
- Paaver, M., Eensoo, D., Pulver, A., & Harro, J. (2006). Adaptive and maladaptive impulsivity, platelet monoamine oxidase (MAO) activity and risk-admitting in different types of risky drivers. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 186(1), 32-40. doi: 10.1007/s00213-006-0325-3
- Parvizi, S., & Hamzehgardeshi, Z. (2014). Adolescents' view of health concept and its risk factors: a literature review. *Int J Adolesc Med Health*. doi: 10.1515/ijamh-2013-0311
- Patton, J. H., Stanford, M. S., & Barratt, E. S. (1995). Factor structure of the Barratt impulsiveness scale. *J Clin Psychol*, *51*(6), 768-774.
- Pearson, M. R., Murphy, E. M., & Doane, A. N. (2013). Impulsivity-like traits and risky driving behaviors among college students. *Accid Anal Prev*, 53, 142-148. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2013.01.009
- Peck, R. C., Gebers, M. A., Voas, R. B., & Romano, E. (2008). The relationship between blood alcohol concentration (BAC), age, and crash risk. J Safety Res, 39(3), 311-319. doi: 10.1016/j.jsr.2008.02.030
- Peper, J. S., & Dahl, R. E. (2013). The Teenage Brain: Surging Hormones-Brain-Behavior Interactions During Puberty. Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 22(2), 134-139.
- Peper, J. S., Koolschijn, P. C., & Crone, E. A. (2013). Development of risk taking: contributions from adolescent testosterone and the orbito-frontal cortex. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 25(12), 2141-2150.
- Perreault, S. (2013). *Impaired driving in Canada, 2011*. Statistics Canada, Minister of Industry Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/85-002-x/2013001/article/11739-eng.pdf.
- Peters, S., Jolles, D. J., Van Duijvenvoorde, A. C., Crone, E. A., & Peper, J. S. (2015). The link between testosterone and amygdala-orbitofrontal cortex connectivity in adolescent alcohol use. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 53, 117-126.
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., Lee, J.-Y., & Podsakoff, N. P. (2003). Common method biases in behavioral research: a critical review of the literature and recommended remedies. *Journal of applied psychology*, 88(5), 879.
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2004). SPSS and SAS procedures for estimating indirect effects in simple mediation models. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers, 36*(4), 717-731.
- Provost, J. S., Petrides, M., & Monchi, O. (2010). Dissociating the role of the caudate nucleus and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in the monitoring of events within human working memory. *Eur J Neurosci*, 32(5), 873-880. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07333.x
- Purssell, R., Brown, D., Brubacher, J. R., Wilson, J., Fang, M., Schulzer, M., . . . Walker, T. (2010). Proportion of injured drivers presenting to a tertiary care emergency department
who engage in future impaired driving activities. *Traffic Inj Prev, 11*(1), 35-42. doi: 10.1080/15389580903419125

- Quinn, P. D., Stappenbeck, C. A., & Fromme, K. (2011). Collegiate heavy drinking prospectively predicts change in sensation seeking and impulsivity. *J Abnorm Psychol*, *120*(3), 543-556.
- Rahman, F., & Christian, H. C. (2007). Non-classical actions of testosterone: an update. *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM, 18*(10), 371-378.
- Ramirez, J. M. (2003). Hormones and aggression in childhood and adolescence. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 8(6), 621-644.
- Rasanen, P., Hakko, H., Visuri, S., Paanila, J., Kapanen, P., Suomela, T., & Tiihonen, J. (1999). Serum testosterone levels, mental disorders and criminal behaviour. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*, 99(5), 348-352.
- Rehm, J., Mathers, C., Popova, S., Thavorncharoensap, M., Teerawattananon, Y., & Patra, J. (2009). Global burden of disease and injury and economic cost attributable to alcohol use and alcohol-use disorders. *The Lancet*, 373(9682), 2223-2233.
- Reimer, B., D'Ambrosio, L. A., Coughlin, J. E., Kafrissen, M. E., & Biederman, J. (2006). Using self-reported data to assess the validity of driving simulation data. *Behav Res Methods*, 38(2), 314-324.
- Reynolds, M. D., Tarter, R., Kirisci, L., Kirillova, G., Brown, S., Clark, D. B., & Gavaler, J. (2007). Testosterone Levels and Sexual Maturation Predict Substance Use Disorders in Adolescent Boys: A Prospective Study. *BPS Biological Psychiatry*, 61(11), 1223-1227.
- Rivas, M. P., Moreira, L. M., Santo, L. D., Marques, A. C., El-Hani, C. N., & Toralles, M. B. (2014). New studies of second and fourth digit ratio as a morphogenetic trait in subjects with congenital adrenal hyperplasia. *American journal of human biology : the official journal of the Human Biology Council, 26*(4).
- Robertson, A. A., Liew, H., & Gardner, S. (2011). An evaluation of the narrowing gender gap in DUI arrests. *Accid Anal Prev, 43*(4), 1414-1420.
- Romano, E., Kelley-Baker, T., & Voas, R. B. (2008). Female involvement in fatal crashes: increasingly riskier or increasingly exposed? *Accid Anal Prev*, 40(5), 1781-1788. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2008.06.016
- Ryb, G. E., Dischinger, P. C., Kufera, J. A., & Read, K. M. (2006). Risk perception and impulsivity: association with risky behaviors and substance abuse disorders. *Accid Anal Prev*, 38(3), 567-573. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2005.12.001
- SAAQ. (2014). Zero alcohol.
- Sapienza, P., Zingales, L., & Maestripieri, D. (2009). Gender differences in financial risk aversion and career choices are affected by testosterone. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106(36), 15268-15273. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0907352106
- Saunders, J. B., Aasland, O. G., Babor, T. F., & Grant, M. (1993). Development of the alcohol use disorders identification test (AUDIT): WHO collaborative project on early detection of persons with harmful alcohol consumption-II. *Addiction*, 88(6), 791-804.

Schipper, B. C. (2012). Sex Hormones and Choice under Risk. SSRN Electronic Journal.

http://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2046324

- Schwebel, D. C., Ball, K. K., Severson, J., Barton, B. K., Rizzo, M., & Viamonte, S. M. (2007). Individual difference factors in risky driving among older adults. *J Safety Res*, 38(5), 501-509. doi: 10.1016/j.jsr.2007.04.005
- Schwerdtfeger, A., Heims, R., & Heer, J. (2010). Digit ratio (2D:4D) is associated with traffic violations for male frequent car drivers. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 42(1), 269-274.
- Scott-Parker, B., Watson, B., King, M. J., & Hyde, M. K. (2012). The influence of sensitivity to reward and punishment, propensity for sensation seeking, depression, and anxiety on the risky behaviour of novice drivers: a path model. *Br J Psychol*, 103(2), 248-267. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8295.2011.02069.x
- Scott-Parker, B., Watson, B., King, M. J., & Hyde, M. K. (2013). A further exploration of sensation seeking propensity, reward sensitivity, depression, anxiety, and the risky behaviour of young novice drivers in a structural equation model. *Accid Anal Prev*, 50, 465-471. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2012.05.027
- Shabani, S., Dehghani, M., Hedayati, M., & Rezaei, O. (2011). Relationship of serum serotonin and salivary cortisol with sensation seeking. *Int J Psychophysiol*, 81(3), 225-229.
- Shanmugaratnam, S., Kass, S. J., & Arruda, J. E. (2010). Age differences in cognitive and psychomotor abilities and simulated driving. *Accid Anal Prev*, 42(3), 802-808. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2009.10.002
- Shechtman, O., Classen, S., Awadzi, K., & Mann, W. (2009). Comparison of driving errors between on-the-road and simulated driving assessment: a validation study. *Traffic Inj Prev*, 10(4), 379-385. doi: 10.1080/15389580902894989
- Simpson, H. M., Mayhew, D. R., & Warren, R. A. (1982). Epidemiology of road accidents involving young adults: alcohol, drugs and other factors. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, 10(1), 35-63.
- Smart, R., Stoduto, G., Mann, R., & Adlaf, E. (2004). Road rage experience and behavior: vehicle, exposure, and driver factors. *Traffic Inj Prev*, 5(4), 343-348. doi: 10.1080/15389580490509482
- Sommers, M. S., Lyons, M. S., Fargo, J. D., Sommers, B. D., McDonald, C. C., Shope, J. T., & Fleming, M. F. (2013). Emergency department-based brief intervention to reduce risky driving and hazardous/harmful drinking in young adults: a randomized controlled trial. *Alcoholism, clinical and experimental research*, 37(10), 1753-1762.
- Spielberg, J. M., Forbes, E. E., Ladouceur, C. D., Worthman, C. M., Olino, T. M., Ryan, N. D., & Dahl, R. E. (2015). Pubertal testosterone influences threat-related amygdala-orbitofrontal cortex coupling. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci, 10*(3), 408-415.
- Stanford, M. S., Mathias, C. W., Dougherty, D. M., Lake, S. L., Anderson, N. E., & Patton, J. H. (2009). Fifty years of the Barratt Impulsiveness Scale: An update and review. *Personality* and Individual Differences, 47(5), 385-395. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2009. 04.008

- Stanton, S. J., Liening, S. H., & Schultheiss, O. C. (2011). Testosterone is positively associated with risk taking in the Iowa Gambling Task. *Horm Behav*, 59(2), 252-256. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2010.12.003
- Stanton, S. J., Mullette-Gillman, O. A., McLaurin, R. E., Kuhn, C. M., LaBar, K. S., Platt, M. L., & Huettel, S. A. (2011). Low- and high-testosterone individuals exhibit decreased aversion to economic risk. *Psychol Sci*, 22(4), 447-453. doi: 10.1177/0956797611401752
- Stanton, S. J., Wirth, M. M., Waugh, C. E., & Schultheiss, O. C. (2009). Endogenous testosterone levels are associated with amygdala and ventromedial prefrontal cortex responses to anger faces in men but not women. *Biological Psychology*, 81(2), 118-122.
- Steinberg, L., Albert, D., Cauffman, E., Banich, M., Graham, S., & Woolard, J. (2008). Age differences in sensation seeking and impulsivity as indexed by behavior and self-report: evidence for a dual systems model. *Developmental psychology*, 44(6), 1764-1778.
- Strano-Rossi, S., Castrignano, E., Anzillotti, L., Serpelloni, G., Mollica, R., Tagliaro, F., . . . Chiarotti, M. (2012). Evaluation of four oral fluid devices (DDS(R), Drugtest 5000(R), Drugwipe 5+(R) and RapidSTAT(R)) for on-site monitoring drugged driving in comparison with UHPLC-MS/MS analysis. *Forensic Sci Int*, 221(1-3), 70-76. doi: 10.1016/j.forsciint.2012.04.003
- Sumer, N., Ayvasik, H. B., & Er, N. (2005). Cognitive and psychomotor correlates of selfreported driving skills and behavior. Paper presented at the Third International Driving Symposium on Human Factors in Driver Assessment, Training, and Vehicle Design.
- Sundblad, C., Bergman, L., & Eriksson, E. (1994). High levels of free testosterone in women with bulimia nervosa. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*, *90*(5), 397-398.
- Taylor, B., & Rehm, J. (2012). The relationship between alcohol consumption and fatal motor vehicle injury: high risk at low alcohol levels. *Alcoholism, clinical and experimental research*, 36(10), 1827-1834.
- Terburg, D., Morgan, B., & van Honk, J. (2009). The testosterone-cortisol ratio: A hormonal marker for proneness to social aggression. *IJLP International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, *32*(4), 216-223.
- Thompson, A. L., Molina, B. S., Pelham, W., Jr., & Gnagy, E. M. (2007). Risky driving in adolescents and young adults with childhood ADHD. *J Pediatr Psychol*, 32(7), 745-759. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsm002
- TIRF. (2004). Traffic Injury Research Foundation, Deaths and Injuries to Young Canadians from Road Crashes.
- Toone, R. J., Peacock, O. J., Smith, A. A., Thompson, D., Drawer, S., Cook, C., & Stokes, K. A. (2013). Measurement of steroid hormones in saliva: Effects of sample storage condition. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest*, 13, 13.
- Treloar, H. R., Morris, D. H., Pedersen, S. L., & McCarthy, D. M. (2012). Direct and indirect effects of impulsivity traits on drinking and driving in young adults. *J Stud Alcohol Drugs*, 73(5), 794-803.

- Upton, D. J., Bishara, A. J., Ahn, W.-Y., & Stout, J. C. (2011). Propensity for risk taking and trait impulsivity in the Iowa Gambling Task. *PAID Personality and Individual Differences*, 50(4), 492-495.
- van Beek, J. H., de Moor, M. H., Geels, L. M., Willemsen, G., & Boomsma, D. I. (2014). Explaining individual differences in alcohol intake in adults: evidence for genetic and cultural transmission? J Stud Alcohol Drugs, 75(2), 201-210.
- Van Dyke, N., & Fillmore, M. T. (2014). Acute effects of alcohol on inhibitory control and simulated driving in DUI offenders. J Safety Res, 49, 5.e1-11. doi: 10.1016/j.jsr.2014.02.004
- van Honk, J., Schutter, D. J., Hermans, E. J., Putman, P., Tuiten, A., & Koppeschaar, H. (2004). Testosterone shifts the balance between sensitivity for punishment and reward in healthy young women. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 29(7), 937-943. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2003.08.007
- van Wingen, G., Mattern, C., Verkes, R. J., Buitelaar, J., Fernandez, G., & Psychoneuroendocrine, I. (2010). Testosterone reduces amygdalaorbitofrontal cortex coupling. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 35(1), 105-113.
- Verdejo-Garcia, A., Lawrence, A. J., & Clark, L. (2008). Impulsivity as a vulnerability marker for substance-use disorders: review of findings from high-risk research, problem gamblers and genetic association studies. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 32(4), 777-810. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2007.11.003
- Verster, J. C., Wester, A. E., Goorden, M., van Wieringen, J.-P., Olivier, B., & Volkerts, E. R. (2009). Novice drivers performance after different alcohol dosages and placebo in the divided-attention steering simulator (DASS). *Psychopharmacology Psychopharmacology*, 204(1), 127-133.
- Virkkunen, M., Kallio, E., Rawlings, R., Tokola, R., Poland, R. E., Guidotti, A., . . . et al. (1994). Personality profiles and state aggressiveness in Finnish alcoholic, violent offenders, fire setters, and healthy volunteers. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 51(1), 28-33.
- Vivoli, R., Rovesti, S., Bussetti, P., & Bergomi, M. (2013). Psychomotor performance of truck drivers before and after day shifts. *Traffic Inj Prev, 14*(8), 791-796.
- Voas, R. B., Torres, P., Romano, E., & Lacey, J. H. (2012). Alcohol-related risk of driver fatalities: an update using 2007 data. J Stud Alcohol Drugs, 73(3), 341-350.
- Waller, P. F., Elliott, M. R., Shope, J. T., Raghunathan, T. E., & Little, R. J. (2001). Changes in young adult offense and crash patterns over time. *Accid Anal Prev*, *33*(1), 117-128.
- Wang, W., Wu, Y.-X., Peng, Z.-G., Lu, S.-W., Yu, L., Wang, G.-P., . . . Wang, Y.-H. (2000). Test of sensation seeking in a Chinese sample. *Personality and individual differences*, 28(1), 169-179.
- Wang, Y., Mehler, B., Reimer, B., Lammers, V., D'Ambrosio, L. A., & Coughlin, J. F. (2010). The validity of driving simulation for assessing differences between in-vehicle informational interfaces: A comparison with field testing. *Ergonomics*, 53(3), 404-420. doi: 10.1080/00140130903464358

- Watt, K., Purdie, D. M., Roche, A. M., & McClure, R. J. (2004). Risk of injury from acute alcohol consumption and the influence of confounders. *Addiction*, 99(10), 1262-1273. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2004.00823.x
- Welker, K. M., Gruber, J., & Mehta, P. H. (2015). A Positive Affective Neuroendocrinology Approach to Reward and Behavioral Dysregulation. *Front Psychiatry*, 6, 93. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2015.00093
- West, R., Wilding, J., French, D., Kemp, R., & Irving, A. (1993). Effect of low and moderate doses of alcohol on driving hazard perception latency and driving speed. *Addiction*, 88(4), 527-532.
- WHO. (2011). Global plan for the decade of action for road safety.
- WHO. (2013). Global Status Report on Road Safety.
- Wilcox, A. J., Baird, D. D., & Weinberg, C. R. (1999). Time of implantation of the conceptus and loss of pregnancy. *N Engl J Med*, *340*(23), 1796-1799. doi: 10.1056/nejm199906103402304
- Wille, S. M., Samyn, N., Ramirez-Fernandez Mdel, M., & De Boeck, G. (2010). Evaluation of on-site oral fluid screening using Drugwipe-5(+), RapidSTAT and Drug Test 5000 for the detection of drugs of abuse in drivers. *Forensic Sci Int*, 198(1-3), 2-6. doi: 10.1016/j.forsciint.2009.10.012
- Winter, A. L., Conklin, H. M., Tyc, V. L., Stancel, H., Hinds, P. S., Hudson, M. M., & Kahalley, L. S. (2014). Executive function late effects in survivors of pediatric brain tumors and acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Journal of clinical and experimental neuropsychology*, 36(8), 818-830.
- Winters, S. J., Kelley, D. E., & Goodpaster, B. (1998). The analog free testosterone assay: are the results in men clinically useful? *Clin Chem*, 44(10), 2178-2182.
- Yang, J., Du, F., Qu, W., Gong, Z., & Sun, X. (2013). Effects of personality on risky driving behavior and accident involvement for Chinese drivers. *Traffic Inj Prev*, 14(6), 565-571. doi: 10.1080/15389588.2012.748903
- Yildirim, B. O., & Derksen, J. J. (2012). A review on the relationship between testosterone and the interpersonal/affective facet of psychopathy. *Psychiatry Res*, 197(3), 181-198. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2011.08.016
- Zador, P. L. (1991). Alcohol-related relative risk of fatal driver injuries in relation to driver age and sex. *J Stud Alcohol*, 52(4), 302-310.
- Zakletskaia, L. I., Mundt, M. P., Balousek, S. L., Wilson, E. L., & Fleming, M. F. (2009). Alcohol-impaired driving behavior and sensation-seeking disposition in a college population receiving routine care at campus health services centers. *Accid Anal Prev*, 41(3), 380-386. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2008.12.006
- Zehr, J. L., Todd, B. J., Schulz, K. M., McCarthy, M. M., & Sisk, C. L. (2006). Dendritic pruning of the medial amygdala during pubertal development of the male Syrian hamster. J *Neurobiol*, 66(6), 578-590. doi: 10.1002/neu.20251

- Zethraeus, N., Kocoska-Maras, L., Ellingsen, T., von Schoultz, B., Hirschberg, A. L., & Johannesson, M. (2009). A randomized trial of the effect of estrogen and testosterone on economic behavior. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *106*(16), 6535-6538.
- Zitzmann, M., & Nieschlag, E. (2001). Testosterone levels in healthy men and the relation to behavioural and physical characteristics: facts and constructs. *Eur J Endocrinol*, 144(3), 183-197.
- Zuckerman, M. (1994). *Behavioral Expressions and Biosocial Bases of Sensation Seeking*: Cambridge University Press.
- Zuckerman, M. (1996). The psychobiological model for impulsive unsocialized sensation seeking: a comparative approach. *Neuropsychobiology*, *34*(3), 125-129.
- Zuckerman, M., Bone, R. N., Neary, R., Mangelsdorff, D., & Brustman, B. (1972). What is the sensation seeker? Personality trait and experience correlates of the Sensation-Seeking Scales. J Consult Clin Psychol, 39(2), 308-321.
- Zuckerman, M., Eysenck, S., & Eysenck, H. J. (1978). Sensation seeking in England and America: cross-cultural, age, and sex comparisons. *J Consult Clin Psychol*, 46(1), 139-149.
- Zuckerman, M., Kolin, E. A., Price, L., & Zoob, I. (1964). Development of a sensation-seeking scale. *APJCP Journal of Consulting Psychology*, 28(6), 477-482.
- Zuckerman, M., & Kuhlman, D. M. (2000). Personality and risk-taking: common biosocial factors. *J Pers*, 68(6), 999-1029.

Males (n = 11)		Females (n = 11)	
M (%)	SD	M (%)	SD
24.5	4.69	23.0	4.31
16.2	2.14	15.5	2.77
(55)		(62)	
(45)		(38)	
(73)		(91)	
(27)		(9)	
14.7	1.85	14.8	1.66
6.36	3.41	7.45	5.18
22.7	3.82	20.4	3.15
58.5	7.13	59.3	11.3
105.3**	32.9	35.8	12.0
17.6*	1.36	19.2	1.72
97.7	26.4	87.9	28.9
105.9	34.7	93.4	36.7
	M (%) 24.5 16.2 (55) (45) (73) (27) 14.7 6.36 22.7 58.5 105.3** 17.6* 97.7	M (%) SD 24.5 4.69 16.2 2.14 (55) (45) (73) (27) 14.7 1.85 6.36 3.41 22.7 3.82 58.5 7.13 105.3** 32.9 17.6* 1.36 97.7 26.4	M(%) SD $M(%)$ 24.54.6923.016.22.1415.5(55)(62)(45)(38)(73)(91)(27)(9)14.71.8514.86.363.417.4522.73.8220.458.57.1359.3105.3**32.935.817.6*1.3619.297.726.487.9

 Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics, alcohol misuse, personality characteristics, testosterone levels, and mean speed in males and females

Notes: ^aNon-white = Black/Indian/Native/Asian/Hispanic/others; Group differences were detected by t-test or Mann-Whitney test for continuous variables and χ^2 for categorical data;* < 0.05; ** < 0.01; **Abbreviations:** AUDIT: Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test; SSS-V: Sensation Seeking Score version V; BIS-11: Barratt Impulsiveness Score.



Figure 1. Conceptual model for the hypothesized relationship between testosterone and simulated mean speed in young drivers with high versus low testosterone levels through the mediating roles of sensation seeking and impulsivity and the moderating roles of sex and alcohol







Figure 2. Driving simulation hardware and projected computerized scenarios



Figure 3. Mean speed of drivers with high (TH) versus low testosterone (LT) and under BAC +ve (BAC = 0.02 - 0.05%) and BAC -ve (BAC = 0%).

Appendix 1

Description of the Protocol of the Main Study

This study will take place at the Addiction Research Program (ARP) at the Douglas Mental Health University Institute. The entire protocol consists of three visits. Study candidates are first telephone screened for eligibility. To determine study eligibility, prospective subjects responding to advertisements are questioned about age, driving license status, kilometers driven in the past three months, pregnancy and breastfeeding status. The **health condition screening protocol** queries on past experience of seizure, reported head trauma or other central nervous system injury, self-reported psychiatric disorder, blood pressure $\geq 150/90$, alcohol-induced discomfort, sleep disorder (e.g. self-reported snoring or difficulty sleeping), repeated motion sickness, and any other source of physical and/or psychological distress. Administration of the following objective screeners ensues: **Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)** (12 items) used to detect sleep disturbances, the **Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test (AUDIT)** (10 items) for alcohol problems, the **Drug Use Diagnosis Identification Test (DUDIT)** (10 items) for drug problems. Eligible candidates are scheduled to come to the lab for three sessions. The initial and the test visits should take approximately 5 hours.

Initial recruitment visit

- Participants will arrive at 11:00 AM, they will be asked to present picture identification, as well as proof of their driver's license status. They will be offered snacks or juices on their arrival.
- They will be asked to provide proof of their driving record.
- Demographic questions (ethnicity, education), driving history.
- A research assistant will accompany the participant to the Centre d' Avancement de la Recherche Clinique (CARC) where they will be asked to undergo a Breathalyzer test. A research nurse will complete a drug screening test. Subjects under the influence of alcohol or drugs at the time of the visit will not be allowed to continue the session. Female participants will undergo pregnancy test.

- It is possible that participants will be asked questions regarding their health status and have their blood pressure and pulse measured by a nursing staff.
- Participants will be asked to fill out several questionnaires related to substance use, attitudes and driving behaviours.
- Participants will be asked to drive on a driving simulator for about 10 minutes to assess whether they have a simulator sickness.
- The above tasks will take slightly less than 2 hours. Participants will have a 20-minute break at 13:00 PM.
- After break, they will be asked to complete several skills including two 30-minute driving simulation.
- Participants will be given Actiwatches. These watch like instruments are used to assess their sleep habits.
- The recruitment visit will end around 3:30 PM.

Between the initial and test visit

- On day 6, participants are requested to come to Douglas Hospital with wrist watches. These watches are required to assess their normal sleep.
- During the visit, participants will be told whether they have to reduce their sleep or continue their normal sleep habits during six nights proceeding test day. This process may take 60 minutes and they will be paid 50\$ as compensation.
- Alternatively, research assistance can come to their home to collect sleep watches on day 6 and they will receive a phone call on day 7, explaining their allocation to sleep condition. In this case, they will not be paid.

<u>Test visit</u>

- Participants will be asked to provide picture identification. Snacks will be offered upon request.
- A research assistant will accompany the participant to the Centre d'Avancement de la Recherche Clinique (CARC) where they will be asked to undergo a Breathalyzer test. A research nurse will complete a drug screening test. Pregnancy test for female participants.
- Participants will practice driving simulation for 10 minutes.

- They will be given drinks around 12:00PM. They will have to drink three glasses of juices over 15 minutes. Breath alcohol will be verified every 20-30 minutes.
- During 12:15 PM to 12:55 PM, they will be allowed to watch videos, the snacks will be provided at 12:55.
- Psychological testing will start around 1:15PM followed by two driving simulations of approximately 25-30 min each.
- At the end of the session, participants will be asked questions regarding their driving performance.
- Participants will be informed about the drink (alcohol or not) that they have consumed.
- In case they have received alcohol, they will be requested to stay till the end of experiment till the BAC level drops to zero.
- In case they have received alcohol, they are requested to take public transport and they can ask for taxi as well. This will be arranged by the research staff.